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AT A G L A N C E
CORPORATE STRUCTURE

SUPPLY POINTS

Established 1995
Unlisted public company

961 extra-large outlets
1,745 large outlets
243 small outlets
1,280 unmetered pipe

CUSTOMER CENTRES
Deniliquin and Finley

WATER ACCESS LICENCES

FIVE-YEAR AVERAGE WATER
USE ON-FARM
598GL

NSW Murray Regulated River as at 30 June 2019:
• 828,238 units general security
– non-government
• 193,826 units general security – other
• 279,786 units conveyance
• 121,704 units supplementary water
• 137 units high security – irrigation
• 3,170 units high security – town

DRAINAGE SYSTEM
1,417km gravity-fed earthen channels

SUB-SURFACE
DRAINAGE CATCHMENT
25,000ha

LANDHOLDINGS SUPPLIED
2,117

AREA OF OPERATIONS
724,000ha

REGIONAL POPULATION
30,000 approximately

GROSS VALUE AGRICULTURE
PRODUCTION (MURRAY)
$1.6b GVAP (Department of Agriculture)

SUPPLY SYSTEM
2,778km gravity-fed earthen channels
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ACCREDITED ESCAPES
Capacity 3,350ML/day (four escapes)

FARM BUSINESS PROFILE
(as at June 2019)

2,117

4%

2,153 last year

OF WATER USED
TO GROW RICE

LANDHOLDINGS

39% last year

32%

6%

17% last year

OF WATER
USED TO GROW
PERMANENT
PASTURE

OF WATER
USED TO
GROW CEREALS

6% last year

3%

OF WATER
USED TO
GROW COTTON

90%
2019 DELIVERY
EFFICIENCY
89% last year

3% last year
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CHAIRMAN’S
REPORT

We have developed plans to be a more effective voice to
advocate for change in the way water is managed in the
Basin. During 2018/19 we met on several occasions
with State and Federal Ministers, their advisors, and the
Government agencies that administer policy outcomes
to emphasise the adverse impact that the Plan is having
on this region.
After significant lobbying with relevant Ministers and the
head of WaterNSW, a significant achievement was the
reinstatement of an interim escapes/canal agreement
to help reduce system losses for the benefit of Murray
Irrigation and its customers.
We were also influential in the decision by then NSW
Water Minister, Niall Blair, to submit a Ministerial request
to the Murray-Darling Basin Authority to identify and
address the increased losses in the
Murray system.
We acknowledge that there is much more to do to
increase awareness of the challenging circumstances
in the Southern Riverina and be an effective advocate
of change.

GOVERNANCE
The Board has worked effectively during the year to
enhance corporate governance for Murray Irrigation,
building on a foundation of stability.
As the 2018/19 financial year closed, the Board
reflected on its achievements and resolved to take
a longer-term approach to the challenges it, and the
community it supports, faces.
The modernisation program undertaken over recent
years was completed in August 2019 and there have
been significant customer benefits from the initiative.
We believe that fostering effective relationships will
deliver long-term, tangible benefits for our shareholders
and the communities in which we live and our recently
endorsed 2025 Strategic Plan underpins these efforts.

ADVOCACY
An important strategic pillar of our approach is to
leverage our position as Australia’s largest privatelyowned irrigation company. Murray Irrigation and its
shareholders are impacted by the current adverse
situation throughout the Murray-Darling Basin Plan (the
Plan) and we have a strong role to play in advocating
for our region.
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Member Directors completed the Australian Institute of
Company Directors training and effectively managed
their duties in-line with their fiduciary obligations.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
CUSTOMER MEETINGS
In February 2019, meetings were conducted across the
footprint to seek feedback from customers in relation
to matters of importance to them. The outcomes from
these meetings focussed on adding value to delivery
entitlements, the benefits of being involved with Murray
Irrigation, rewarding water use, early season allocation
advance and business sustainability. Our Chief
Operating Officer will talk further about these initiatives
in his report.
STRATEGIC PLAN 2025
Board strategy sessions held in August 2018 and
February 2019 proved invaluable with employees and
the Directors drawing on their experience to contribute
to the Company’s 2025 Strategic Plan.
The Strategic Plan outlines the wider foundations upon
which Murray Irrigation will progress its water delivery
and advocacy efforts over the next five years.

MODERNISATION
The full benefit of the modernisation of our infrastructure
through the Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators
Program (PIIOP), which was completed in August
2019, is now starting to be realised.
The five per cent efficiency allocations in September
2018 and again in February 2019, in a year of zero
allocation, were testament to this. We will not be
pursuing any further PIIOP programs if these continue
to be funded by the return of water.

THANK YOU
The end of the financial year saw us bid farewell to
our CEO of four years, Michael Renehan. Michael’s
leadership was greatly appreciated, and I would like to
take this opportunity on behalf of the Board to thank
him for his professionalism and contribution.

The strategic location of our footprint as a fertile area to
grow irrigated food and fibre should give our farmers the
confidence to continue to invest in the region.
We will continue to identify third-party impacts to general
security allocations, which remains a key priority for the
Board and management team.
We will continue to represent shareholders and lobby
the relevant governments and agencies to address the
impacts of the Murray-Darling Basin Plan implementation,
ensuring the needs of our regions are met.

PHIL SNOWDEN
CHAIRMAN

Scott Barlow was appointed Chief Operating Officer
and assumed responsibility for the running of the
company as we recruited a new CEO. We thank Scott
for successfully overseeing business operations and
providing the Board with sound counsel during his time
in the role.
Thank you to all our employees for being safe and
focussed on the needs of our customers throughout
the year.

LOOKING FORWARD
We welcome Philip Endley as the new CEO of
Murray Irrigation Limited. Phil comes to us with over 30
years’ experience in the water industry, most recently
as Managing Director of Lower Murray Water.
The Board looks forward to working with Philip to
achieve enhanced outcomes for all stakeholders. Phil
has provided a short section in this report outlining his
vision for the company and our customers.
We have a strong focus on the future with the
appropriate resources in place to position us well into
the future to continue delivering water to our irrigators
and advocate on their behalf.
We take our responsibilities as custodians of this
visionary infrastructure seriously and are committed to
further leveraging it for the benefit of our shareholders
and the community.
As a farmer myself, I never lose sight of the difficult
circumstances most of our shareholders are
experiencing, which is reflected in how we operate and
behave as an integral part of the community.
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CEO’S
REPORT

In the long term, I would like to contribute towards
restoring the wealth of this region and I believe
that our 2025 Strategic Plan, which focusses on
efficiency, certainty of water supply and the retention of
entitlements, will help achieve this.
Given the current environment, we are reviewing the
organisation to ensure it is fit for purpose in and will
continue to remain so should the drought continue. This
means that we must reduce costs wherever possible
which will involve challenging decisions.
I am working with the Board and agencies across
several states to seek more water to release to you.
There is still carryover and conveyance water available
(at the time of writing), however, I know this provides
the minimum only. We are advocating for change and
I have commenced meetings in several states to seek
support.
I came to Murray Irrigation because I believe we are in
the right place, upstream of the Barmah Choke, and
close to the great dams at Hume and Dartmouth which,
in a drying climate is an ideal location for irrigated
farming.

PHILIP ENDLEY
INCOMING CEO

As the incoming CEO of Murray Irrigation, the Board
has asked me to provide some comments about my
background and my vision for Murray Irrigation and our
customers.
Let me start by saying that it is a privilege to come to this
role and that I look forward to meeting you and hearing
your views about what you want from us.
I have spent several years working with the regional
communities in Western Australia and Victoria, and
more recently, Mildura. As such, I am acutely aware of
the need for certainty about water.
Murray Irrigation is your company – I recognise that we
must deliver the water you need, when you need it. In
2018/19, Murray Irrigation was able to provide at least
296GL water across 724,000 hectares of local farms,
despite zero allocation of general security water.
This came from a mixture of carryover and conveyance
water.
I understand that we must continue to improve and
innovate while delivering value for money to our
customers. To this end, I will ensure that Murray
Irrigation staff continue to work with you and where
possible, advise on how to adapt to the current dry
conditions.
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CHIEF
O P E R AT I N G
OFFICER’S
REPORT

The 2025 Strategic Plan focusses on three key areas:
WATER DELIVERY (OPERATIONS)
Delivering best in class water delivery services to
agriculture, government and the environment.
WATER SECURITY (INFLUENCE) 		
Optimising the yield on our water entitlements.
WATER ATTRACTION/RETENTION (BRAND)
Attracting and retaining water for our region.

SAFETY AND VALUES
Our increased focus and commitment towards
workplace safety has delivered important results;
recording a zero Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
(LTIFR) for the financial year. This is direct testament
to our staff, and represents a significant culture of
continuous improvement.
This safety journey saw us move from an LTIFR rate of
20 (2015/16), 10.5 in (2016/17), and 2.5 in (2017/18).
This year’s result demonstrates our serious commitment
to keeping our teams safe.
Our corporate values of Wellbeing and Safety,
Accountability, Teamwork, Embrace Change and
Respect, continue to be embedded within our work
practices, and while contributing to the continuous
improvement cycle, also make the Company a better
place to work; and the ability to service our customers’
needs in a timely and professional manner.

As the Company’s asset upgrade program, delivered
through the Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators
Program (PIIOP), draws to a close, it is worthy to reflect
upon what has been achieved.
This works program was the largest ever undertaken
by Murray Irrigation and the benefits are already being
realised through efficiency improvements by customers
on-farm, and by the Company within its delivery
network. The additional flexibility for water ordering is
also a significant and tangible bonus.
As a modern and automated irrigation business, we are
now turning our attention to the continuous improvement
of our service delivery standards - ongoing development
and changes within our skill sets will be required to
support this.
In the 2018/19 financial year, our Board endorsed the
2025 Strategic Plan, which provides valuable guidance
to the business regarding our priorities and what
activities are needed to achieve these.
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Our contributions toward community engagement
continued, and the Learn to Swim program again
supported 1,226 school children across our footprint.

WATER DELIVERY
PERFORMANCE
While the general security allocation remained at zero
percent, the Company still managed to deliver 556GL
of water through the network. Of this, 296GL was
delivered to our irrigator customers, 260GL delivered on
behalf of WaterNSW and almost 10GL was delivered to
the environment.
The most pleasing part of this performance was that
the deliveries were made at 90 percent total delivery
efficiency. This was achieved through an innovative
season operating plan, the modern water delivery
assets, and the willingness of our customers to work
collaboratively with the Company to implement reduced
service levels which contributed to the result.

The efficiency performance allowed a resource
distribution of 10 percent to be made available to
customers which was well received.

COMMERCIAL FOCUS
With the water delivery network modernised, and the
associated efficiencies continuing to be realised, our
focus necessarily shifts toward applying downward
pressure on costs.
As a key contributor to achieving this, Murray Irrigation
has adopted a new asset management strategy using
reliability management principles. This revised approach
focusses on maintaining assets in order to extend their
remaining life; as opposed to incurring full replacement
costs at their end of life.
SHAREHOLDER FEEDBACK
AND WATERWELL
Customer meetings were held in February 2019 and
the level of engagement was extremely positive. This
enabled the Board and management to seek input from
customers prior to setting the 2025 Strategic Plan.
The launch of the Company’s ‘WaterWell’ portfolio
occurred soon after consultation and has allowed further
innovation to form the basis of several exciting products.
These provide customers with access to more water in
a predictable manner, earlier in the season.
WaterWell also rewards customers who contribute to
the fixed costs of the Company through holding delivery
entitlements, and those who use water through their
upgraded outlets.
It also supports the financial sustainability of the
Company with discounted water sales to customers
where it is deemed appropriate and encourages water
to be used within our footprint.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The company recorded a net loss before tax of $0.5
million which includes PIIOP revenue and expenses
during the 2018/19 financial year. The financial results
of the company in 2017/18 were significantly influenced
by the receipt of $37.4 million in PIIOP revenue and
PIIOP specific costs at an operating EBIT level of $10.4
million.
In relation to the irrigation business, the revenue was
$29.7 million in 2018/19 compared to $34.1 million
for the previous year. The net loss before tax for this
segment of 2018/19 was $3.2 million, an improvement
of $2.0 million over the previous year.
MILCast experienced a small decline in revenue during
2018/19 to $4.6 million, however, a net loss before tax
of $0.4 million was incurred compared with a profit
before tax of $0.5 million in 2017/18. Management is
taking action to improve the financial performance
of MILCast.
OUR PEOPLE
Our employees play a significant role in their local
communities which underpins regional growth and
success.
The average age of our workforce is 45 years of age,
which highlights the achievement of our employee Merv
Membrey, who celebrated 45 years with the business
this year.

SCOTT BARLOW
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

It’s clear that low allocations have adversely affected
the water delivery result this season. However, it
needs to be recognised that following an intensive fiveyear period where rapid development and significant
change were considered commonplace, we are now
firmly established to position ourselves to deliver every
available drop of water to our customers, regardless of
prevailing environmental conditions.
As the asset modernisation journey ends and the
continuous improvement cycle commences, your
fit-for-purpose irrigation business has arrived.
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O P E R AT I O N S
The Water Delivery
department is the
face of Murray
Irrigation to
our customers.
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O P E R AT I O N S
1. WATER DELIVERY
The Water Delivery department is the face of
Murray Irrigation to our customers. Our team activities
include operation of the irrigation network, frontline
customer support and water ordering, operation of
the Water Exchange, business development, account
management and resolution of complex enquiries.
The department was also responsible for the delivery
of the On-Farm Irrigation Efficiency Programs (OFIEP)
within our footprint. This activity has just drawn to
its conclusion.
The team has reduced significantly over the past two
years, with numbers dropping from 46 to 30. This has
resulted from the investment in technology and means
water delivery throughout the network is completed
remotely, from the office. The introduction of technology,
and consequent changes in skill sets has enabled a
focus on customer engagement. Engagement at our
customer focus group meetings, and attendance at
the operational meetings continues to increase, and
the exchange of information has been invaluable in
developing innovation for consideration by the Board.
Looking forward, the focus on business development
and encouraging water use within the footprint will
become a further priority, due to the conclusion of the
OFIEP providing us with more resources to work with
both existing and new customers to achieve beneficial
outcomes.

WATER USE ON FARM
2014/15

738,561ML

2015/16

338,950ML

2016/17

823,644ML

2017/18

792,405ML

2018/19

296,149ML

Total

2,989,709ML

5-year average water use on farm

ANNUAL
PASTURE

COTTON

597,942ML

HORTICULTURE
AND OTHER

24%

3%

5%

of total water
use 2018/19

of total water
use 2018/19

of total water
use 2018/19

20% 2017/18

3% 2017/18

2% 2017/18

PERMANENT
PASTURE

RICE

STOCK AND
DOMESTIC

6%

4%

2%

of total water
use 2018/19

of total water
use 2018/19

of total water
use 2018/19

6% 2017/18

39% 2017/18

1% 2017/18

SUMMER
CROPS

ENVIRONMENTAL

STORAGE

2%

19%

3%

of total water
use 2018/19

of total water
use 2018/19

of total water
use 2018/19

1% 2017/18

9% 2017/18

0.76% 2017/18

YEAR HIGHLIGHT
Efficient management of the system and water licences
enabled Murray Irrigation to provide a 10 per cent
(102GL) Resource Distribution to Delivery Entitlement
holders.

WETLANDS

DELIVERY SERVICE
OPERATIONAL WATER DELIVERY

% delivery efficiency

90%

GL delivered on farm

296GL

GL delivered to environment

8.6GL

GL delivered for river operations

192GL

WINTER
CROPS

32%
of total water
use 2018/19
17% 2017/18
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Customer orders
% of orders placed via customer portal
% of orders placed via telephone
% of orders placed manually

16,026
75%
4%
21%

MURRAY IRRIGATION
WATER LICENCE
Murray Irrigation is an irrigation corporation listed in
the Water Management Act 2000 (NSW). It is a private
company holding bulk water entitlements on behalf of
its shareholders.
The Water Management Act 2000 (NSW) includes the
requirement for a Water Sharing Plan to which Murray
Irrigation operations are subject.

WATER ACCESS LICENCES
NSW Murray Regulated River as at 30 June 2019:
•
•
•
•
•
•

828,238 units general security – non-government.
193,826 units general security – other.
279,786 units conveyance.
121,704 units supplementary water.
137 units high security – irrigation.
3,170 units high security – town.

SHARE REGISTER
ACTIVITY 2018/19
ACTIVITY
Permanent transfers applications

The Water Management Act 2000 (NSW) requires
Murray Irrigation to hold these licences and approvals:
• The Operating Licence permits Murray Irrigation
to carry out the business of the supply of water.
It requires Murray Irrigation to hold an Environment
Protection Licence issued by the NSW
Environment Protection Authority.
• Water Access Licences (WAL) entitle
Murray Irrigation to own water entitlements,
known as the Share Component, and extract
water in accordance with the Water Sharing Plan,
known as the Extraction Component.
Murray Irrigation holds these Water Access
Licences:
•
•
•
•
•
•

High security – regulated river
High security – town water supply
Conveyance – regulated river
General security – regulated river
Supplementary water
The Combined Water Supply and Water Use
Approval authorises the Company to extract water
using the authorised extraction water supply
works, the Mulwala Canal Offtake and Wakool
Canal Offtake, and includes the requirement to
produce an Annual Compliance Report
• The Combined Water Supply and Work Use
Approval for salinity and water-table management
tubewells authorises Murray Irrigation to operate
the Wakool Tullakool Sub-Surface Drainage
Scheme (WTSSDS).
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LTX (shares,
water entitlements
and delivery
entitlements)

2

ETX (water
entitlements)

156

STX (shares)

7

DTX (delivery
entitlements)

17

ETO (external
permanent
transfer out
water)

11

ETI (external
permanent
transfer in water
entitlements)

6

ETM (cancellation
acquired
by Murray
Irrigation water
entitlements)

2

Merges

EAA

26 LRN into
9 merged
accounts

Amalgamations

LAM

28 LRN into 9
new LRN

Subdivisions

LSU

4 LRN creating
8 LRN

Consolidation

LRN = Landholding Reference Number

All accounts
are now
automatically
consolidated for
billing purposes.

EXTERNAL TRADING

2018/2019 EXTERNAL TRADES - VOLUME (ML)
70,000

The 2018/19 season saw a net positive trade of 55GL
temporary water bought onto the
Murray Irrigation licence.

60,000
50,000
40,000
30,000
20,000
10,000
0
New South
Wales (Murray)

Murrumbidgee

South Australia

To Mil

MURRAY IRRIGATION
WATER EXCHANGE

Victoria

Government

From Mil

WATER EXCHANGE MONTHLY SALES 2018/2019
2500

$700.00
$600.00

2000

Murray Irrigation’s Water Exchange provided an
effective additional service to customers to trade and
purchase water in 2018/19.

$500.00

1500

$400.00

1000

$300.00
$200.00

500

$100.00
0

$5/23/2019

Exchange purchases - megalitres

4/23/2019

Exchange purchases

3/23/2019

1,384
ML Sold

Exchange buy bids

2/23/2019

1/23/2019

12/23/2018

11/23/2018

10/23/2018

Exchange seller listings

9/23/2018

THE YEAR.

8/23/2018

7/23/2018

A TOTAL OF 99,504ML WAS TRADED FOR

Weighted Avg

111
1,998
WATER EXCHANGE YEARLY SALES

99,504
250,000

Exchange purchases - delivery entitlements

14993 delivery
entitlements

Highest $/ML

$650.00

Lowest $/ML

$168.00

Weighted Average for the season

$422.94

$1,200.00

200,000

$1,000.00
$800.00

150,000

$600.00

100,000

$200.00

0

$2018/19

2017/18

2016/17

2015/16

2014/15

2013/14

2012/13

2011/12

Weighted Average Price per ML

2010/11

2009/10

2008/09

2007/08

2006/07

2005/06

2004/05

2003/04

2002/03

MLs Sold

2001/02

2000/01

September 18
(18,105ML sold)

1999/00

1998/99

Highest month and megalitres sold

$400.00
50,000

Highest $ per ML Sale

Lowest Sale $ per ML

WATER EXCHANGE MONTHLY SALES 2018/2019
20,000

$600.00

18,000

$500.00

16,000
14,000

$400.00

12,000

$300.00

10,000
8,000

$200.00

6,000
4,000
2,000

$100.00

0

$JUN-2019

MAY-2019

APR-2019

MAR-2019

FEB-2019

JAN-2019

								

DEC-2018

NOV-2018

OCT-2018

SEP-2018

JUL-2018

AUG-2018

ML Sold

Weighted Avg
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WATER FOR RIVERS,
CREEKS AND WETLANDS
Murray Irrigation worked closely with the NSW
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment
(DPIE) to achieve environmental outcomes throughout
the footprint by delivering water for the environment to
rivers, creeks and wetlands.
Murray Irrigation has approximately 70 escape
structures that can deliver to these natural systems,
as well as hundreds of other customer outlets that can
deliver water to wetlands on private property.
This is a fee paying service which adds value and water
volume for shareholders.
NATURAL SYSTEM TARGETED

TOTAL DELIVERED

STRUCTURE USED

Creeks / Rivers

8,069ML

Murray Irrigation
escapes

Wetlands

533ML

Customer outlets

ON-FARM IRRIGATION
EFFICIENCY PROGRAM
ROUNDS FOUR AND FIVE
The On-Farm Efficiency Program provides the
Commonwealth with a portion of water savings in
exchange for funds used for capital investment in
on-farm works. These include both surface and spray
projects and enable the landholder to achieve greater
irrigation water use efficiencies.
Rounds four and five were both completed during
the financial year, with the value of round five projects
totalling $6M in on-ground works.

VIDEO
Access an electronic version of this video at
www.murrayirrigation.com.au/Customers/WaterWell.

SUSTAINABILITY PRODUCT
Murray Irrigation’s ‘Sustainability Product’ is the
commercialisation of a volume of water to the customer
at a discounted price. This Product enables
Murray Irrigation to achieve breakeven, which, in turn
enables the company to maintain its infrastructure for
the long term.
WATER USERS CREDIT
14GL of water was provided to customers under the
Water Users Credit. This is applied when customers
take delivery of water on-farm through a compliant
metered outlet.
RESOURCE DISTRIBUTION
2018/19 RESOURCE DISTRIBUTION
DE’s held by landholders

Resource Distribution

Volume

1,048,248

10%

102GL

Over the year, 16 projects were inspected
and approved.

ALLOCATION AND RESOURCE DISTRIBUTION 2018/19
12%
10%

WATERWELL

0
1/6/2019

1/5/2019

Allocation

1/4/2019

1/3/2019

1/2/2019

1/1/2019

Effciency

1/12/2018

1/11/2018

1/10/2018

1/9/2018

1/8/2019
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4%
2%

1/7/2018

As noted in the COO Report, ‘WaterWell’ is a suite
of products that aim to increase the volume of water
available within the region and increase certainty for
customers through effective resource management.

8%
6%

2. INFRASTRUCTURE
Our Infrastructure team develops and executes all
maintenance and asset management activities within
the business. The team’s focus is twofold:
Firstly, to execute periodic maintenance activities
(de-weeding/de-silting, regulator/outlet servicing, etc.)
in a manner that ensures a reliable and affordable
service to customers.
Secondly, to use a risk-based approach to extend the
life of our core assets (channels, bridges, syphons,
etc.) to minimise their overall lifecycle cost and ensure
the long-term financial sustainability of the Company for
future generations.

PUBLIC BRIDGES
Murray Irrigation is required to maintain public bridges
and culverts. As such, winter 2019 saw our public
bridges and culverts undergo engineering inspections,
repairs and life-extending maintenance works. These
bridges were approaching the end of their design lives.
Following the most recent winter works, the condition
of our public bridges as an asset class is ‘good’.
Life-extending maintenance on other asset classes will
commence in future years based on risk and asset
criticality.

LABOUR AND
MACHINERY EFFICIENCY
Infrastructure field staff transitioned from a five-day
week to a three-week roster, delivering three key
benefits which, when combined, deliver improved
service reliability at a reduced cost.

								

KEY BENEFITS
• Weekend staff coverage, which reflects the reality
that irrigation doesn’t stop on weekends
• Improved labour productivity through longer
workdays, resulting in less travel per productive
hour
• Increased machine utilisation due to longer
workdays and weekend use, meaning less
machinery is required.

COMPLIANCE
Murray Irrigation has several compliance obligations
associated with the Licences and Approvals issued
under the Water Management Act 2000 (NSW).
The Combined Water Supply and Water Use Approval
requires Murray Irrigation to produce an Annual
Compliance Report, which includes details regarding
the volume of water extracted and volume of water
delivered to, and utilised by, its customers.
The Company’s Environment Protection Licence
(issued by the NSW Environment Protection Authority)
requires it to monitor and report the volume and quality
of water discharged from its drainage system.
The Combined Water Supply and Water Use Approval
requires Murray Irrigation to monitor the depth to
watertable within its area of operations.
The Company’s Land Sustainability
documents its commitment to achieving
between environmental responsibility and
production. The guidelines are available
Irrigation’s website.

Guidelines
a balance
agricultural
on Murray

www.murrayirrigation.com.au | 17

3. ENGAGEMENT
CUSTOMER ENGAGEMENT
Murray Irrigation’s Water Delivery team conduct regular
meetings with customers to seek their feedback and
update them on seasonal conditions.
Six Season Briefings were held over the past 12
months – two each at Finley, Deniliquin and Wakool.
Guest speakers included representatives from relevant
government departments who attended to provide
clarification on departmental decisions and answer
customer questions.
Focus groups were also held to provide input into
operational changes that affect the customer experience,
specifically the online water market exchange and
customer portal.
In February 2019, consultation involving 23 customer
focus groups was held to discuss and seek feedback on
nine topics. This feedback helped implement company
initiatives and future direction.

SPONSORSHIP
A highlight of Murray Irrigation’s annual sponsorship
commitment is the regional Learn to Swim program. In
2018/19, Murray Irrigation provided support for 1,226
local school children across 21 schools and clubs to
participate in water safety courses.
The program was launched in 2003 and educates
children in water safety as well as vital rescue and
survival techniques.

OUR INDUSTRY
Murray Irrigation worked with local industry
representative organisations including the Ricegrowers’
Association of Australia (RGA), Murray Dairy and the
Murray Regional Strategy Group (MRSG) to provide
irrigable water information and advice for the benefit of
their members.
We continued to enjoy strong working relationships
with each of the five landholder associations within our
footprint. These locality-based associations are a forum
for irrigators to provide Murray Irrigation with insights
into the strategic and policy concerns of the irrigation
community.
Each landholder association is represented by the
broader representative group, Southern Riverina
Irrigators (SRI).
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This aggregation of landholder association chairs
provides its chair and secretariat with policy and strategic
directives that constitute full-time representation of
farmers in the Murray Irrigation footprint.

STATE AND NATIONAL
Murray Irrigation is a member of the National Irrigators’
Council and NSW Irrigators’ Council. These councils
provide industry-wide analysis and insights into every
key issue affecting irrigation.
As peak bodies, these organisations actively represent
the various commodity sectors within the irrigation
industry to governments and the relevant
industry agencies.
As the nation’s largest private irrigation company,
Murray Irrigation is an active participant in the policy
development processes for these organisations.

4. OTHER BUSINESS
MILCAST
MILCast specialises in the design, manufacture and
supply of precast concrete products for agricultural
and commercial use.
MILCast has again undergone significant change in in
the last 12 months with several staffing changes.

FINANCE
Strategic objective:
Achieve breakeven
annual profitability
across a seven-year
business cycle by
managing the three
key levers of cost,
volume and price.

FINANCE
Strategic objective: Achieve breakeven annual profitability across a seven-year business cycle by managing
the three key levers of cost, volume and price.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

DELIVERABLES

2018/19
PERFORMANCE

2017/18
PERFORMANCE

EBIT excl. PIIOP and MILCast

Breakeven

$(5.632)m

$(6.333)m

Operating profit (before tax)

Breakeven

$(0.5)m

$22.633m

Positive (ratio exceeds 1)

1.73

1.21

0

0

0

Working capital (current assets/current liabilities)
Corporate debt

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
Murray Irrigation delivered 296GL on-farm in 2018/19,
from an allocation of zero percent which was due to
a large customer carryover from the previous year and
100GL resource distribution.
The company recorded a net loss before tax of $0.5
million which includes PIIOP revenue and expenses
during the 2018/19 financial year. The financial results
of the company in 2017/18 were significantly influenced
by the receipt of $37.4 million in PIIOP revenue and
PIIOP specific costs at an operating EBIT level of $10.4
million.
In relation to the irrigation business, the revenue was
$29.7 million in 2018/19 compared to $34.1 million
for the previous year. The net loss before tax for this
segment in 2018/19 was $3.2 million, an improvement
of $2.0 million over the previous year.
MILCast experienced a small decline in revenue during
2018/19 to $4.6 million, however, a net loss before tax
of $0.4 million was incurred compared with a profit
before tax of $0.5 million in 2017/18. Management is
taking action to improve the financial performance
of MILCast.

IMPAIRMENT
The Company is required to assess the carrying values
of its fixed assets for any impairment annually.
After a detailed review, it is considered that there is
no change to the impairment charges required for the
2018/19 financial year. We will undertake some further
work during 2019/20 to refine our considerations.

								

www.murrayirrigation.com.au | 21

FIGURE 01 KEY
INCOME ITEMS

FIGURE 02 KEY
EXPENDITURE ITEMS

Breakdown of Murray Irrigation’s total revenue for
2018/19 of $44.7 million, including government
funding for PIIOP Round 2 and PIIOP Round 3. This
figure demonstrates the significance of revenue from
customers and investment streams.

Breakdown of Murray Irrigation’s total expenditure for
2018/19 of $45 million.

38% / $17.2m Water Delivery Charges

13% / $5.7m - Government Funding

32%//$14.5m
$14.5m - Employee
32%
Employee
benefit expenses
expenses
benefit

25%
/ $11.2m
- Materials
& contracts
expenses
25%
/ $11.2m
- Materials
& contracts
expenses

20% / $8.8m - Government
Water Recovery

8% / $3.4m - Water
Products income

8%//$3.6m
$3.6m -- Other
Other Expenses
8%
Expenses

25%
/ $11.2m
- Depreciation
25%
/ $11.2m
- Depreciation

3% / $1.2m - AMRR interest

10% / $4.6m - Milcast
Revenue (ext)

6% / $2.6m Miscellaneous income

3% / $1.2m - Investment income

10% / $4.7m - Bulk Water

10%
/ $4.7m
- Bulk Water
Supply
expenses
Supply expenses

FIGURE 03 CONTRIBUTION
TO OPERATING RESULT BY
DIVISION
Breakdown of Murray Irrigation’s total operating result
for each of the business units - Murray Irrigation,
MILCast, PIIOP Round 2 and PIIOP Round 3.
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OPERATING RESULT BY DIVISION

$’000s
Murray Irrigation

$(3,217)

MILCast

$(363)

PIIOP Round 2

$(667)

PIIOP Round 3

$3,787

Total

$(470)

GOVERNANCE
The directors and
management
strongly support
the principles of
good corporate
governance.

GOVERNANCE
MURRAY IRRIGATION’S
APPROACH TO
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The directors and management strongly support the
principles of good corporate governance.
This is particularly important given the highly regulated
industry in which the Company and its businesses
operate, the constitutional requirement for a majority of
member directors who are also customers, the relatively
high barriers to entry for shareholders, and for the longterm sustainability of the business.
The Board seeks to operate as a professional, efficient
and effective body whose practices accord with and
reflect accepted principles and standards of corporate
governance. The Board ensures that Murray Irrigation’s
corporate governance policies and practices are
reviewed regularly and will continue to reflect best
practice and be developed and refined to meet the
needs of the Company.
Murray Irrigation’s Corporate Governance Policy and
Director’s Handbook are published on the Company’s
website. In setting its corporate governance policies
and practices, the Board and management have taken
guidance from:
a) The Australian Securities Exchange Corporate
Governance Principles and Recommendations
(2007, with 2010 amendments)
b) Australian Standard AS 8000 Good
Governance Principles
c) Applicable standards advocated by the Australian
Institute of Company Directors (AICD) and the
Governance Institute of Australia (GIA).

ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES
OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The principal responsibilities of the Board are to:
a) Approve the strategies, budgets and business
plans prepared by management
b) Assure itself of the effectiveness of the
Company’s governance models, systems and
practices including, amongst other things:
I. The quality, performance and remuneration of the
executive team
II. The appropriateness of organisational
arrangements and structures
III. The adequacy of internal controls, policies,
procedures and processes
IV. Review, ratify and monitor systems of
risk management
V. Oversee performance against targets
and objectives
VI. Oversee the reporting to shareholders and
stakeholders on the strategic direction,
governance and performance of Murray Irrigation
c) Appoint and oversee the performance of the
Chief Executive Officer (CEO).
The Board agrees to the responsibilities and functions
of the Board as well as those of directors, the Chairman
and those delegated to the CEO and Board committees.
Powers delegated by the Board to management include
the authority to manage the day-to-day operation of
the business, including to undertake both financial
and non-financial transactions and incur expenditure
on behalf of the Company up to specified thresholds.
These authorities are in Murray Irrigation’s Delegation
of Authority Policy, which has been approved by the
Board.
Powers that remain the preserve of the Board as ‘key
decisions’ (defined in the Company’s Constitution)
include:
a) A determination, increase or decrease of
annual allocation;
b) A determination of charges;
c) The investment of reserves.

The authority of the Board derives from the Corporations
Act 2001 (Cth), the Company’s Constitution and the
State legislation that governs the licences issued to
Murray Irrigation to conduct its operations and activities.
The role of the Board is to govern and oversee the
management of the Company’s business on behalf of
and for the benefit of shareholders.
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COMPOSITION, SKILLS
AND PERFORMANCE OF
THE BOARD
The composition of the Board is set, within the
parameters approved by shareholders in the Company’s
Constitution, to provide an appropriate mix of skills and
expertise in order for the Board to discharge its duties.
Currently, five directors are member-appointed and
three non-members have been appointed by the Board.
The Board maintains a set of ‘candidate criteria’ for
prospective directors that addresses all legal and
constitutional requirements, as well as desirable
attributes and skills sought by the Board. This criterion
is made available to all potential director candidates
prior to each election or appointment.
The Chairman is appointed by the Board as a whole, in
accordance with procedures developed and adopted by
the Board. Phil Snowden was appointed Chairman on
29 November 2017 and re-appointed on 7 June 2018.
The Board supports the continuing education of all
directors and staff to enable them to conduct their duties
in an efficient and knowledgeable manner. Directors
are encouraged to obtain accreditation or membership
with the AICD, including completion of the ‘Company
Directors Course’ or equivalent. All current directors
have completed the AICD Company Directors Course.
The Board commissions an independent evaluation of its
performance and that of individual directors periodically
(last in June 2017). The Board discusses the findings
from each evaluation and implements appropriate
recommendations.
Details of the directors, their qualifications and
experience are published on pages 38 and 39 of this
report and on the Company’s website.

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST
Five of the eight directors are both members and
customers of the Company, by virtue of the requirements
set down in the Constitution.
Three directors, Claire Filson, Patrick Largier and
Don Marples who were appointed by the Board, are
regarded as independent directors.
Bearing in mind the composition of the Board and
potential for related party transactions, the Company
has put in place appropriate procedures and protocols
to assist directors to declare and manage potential
conflicts of interest and enable the Company and
directors to manage any related party transactions in
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a transparent and appropriate manner. This includes
blackout periods where directors are not permitted to
trade in Murray Irrigation marketable products.
Directors are also required to adhere strictly to the
constraints on their participation and voting in relation to
matters in which they may have an interest, in accordance
with the Corporations Act 2001 and Company policies.
Protocols forming part of the organisation’s Code of
Conduct are enforced in relation to the receipt of gifts
and corporate hospitality to ensure that the inappropriate
or unethical behaviour occurs or could be inferred
or perceived.
A water trading protocol exists, which prevents
directors and employees from acting on or using
information prior to it being publicly available. Directors
must notify the Company Secretary of any permanent
or annual transfers carried out. The Board sets an
embargo period preventing trade from the time of a
Board decision affecting allocations or other market
sensitive decisions until public announcement, usually
by a Company update.
Murray Irrigation member directors Phil Snowden, Noel
Baxter, Steven Fawns, Ryan Gleeson and Waander Van
Beek are customers of the Company, enjoying the same
terms and conditions as those applying to all Murray
Irrigation customers in receipt of similar services.
It is a Board governance policy consistent with the
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 that directors
declare their interest as customers when information
which may affect water pricing or vchange to ‘water
pricing or volumes is made available, discussed and
decided upon by the Board. The directors will either
absent themselves during such discussion, and
subsequent voting on resolutions, and/or warrant that
they will not buy or sell water entitlements or other
tradeable products prior to such information becoming
publicly available.
The Director’s Handbook provides for an embargo
period within which the directors may not trade as
customers. It is also the Board’s policy to disclose
volumes held of water and delivery entitlements in the
Annual Report.

CODE OF CONDUCT
The Company’s Code of Conduct articulates the
standard of behaviour expected of the Company’s
directors, employees and contractors. The Code
requires them, as a minimum, to:
• Act in the best interests of the Company and
create value for the Company’s shareholders;
• Act honestly and with integrity and fairness in all
dealings with each other and third parties; and
• Avoid or manage conflicts of interest.
The Company has in place a process for directors,
employees and third parties to report potential breaches
of the Code of Conduct and a process covering
investigation and sactions, should potential breaches
be identified.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL
ADVICE
The Board supports individual directors, after following
documented
protocols,
obtaining
independent
professional advice at the expense of the Company to
assist them to discharge their duties in a responsible
manner.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
To assist it further in attending to its duties, and as a
means of providing directors with first-hand insight into
critical aspects of the Company’s business, the Board
has established two committees:
a) Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee.
b) Remuneration and Nominations Committee.
It is the Board’s intention that each committee will
include at least one non-member director and have
its own charter, which sets out its composition, role,
responsibilities and key processes. The Board has
not delegated executive authority to any of its Board
committees.
The role of the committees is to report to the Board
and provide appropriate advice and recommendations
on matters relevant to the Committee Charters.
Committees of the Board serve an essential purpose in
supplementing the resources of the Board where policy
development and implementation, the monitoring and
control of the application of policy, and the carriage of
special briefs are concerned.

								

FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE (FARM COMMITTEE)
Membership: Don Marples (Chair), Noel Baxter,
Ryan Gleeson, Claire Filson, Phillip Snowden
(ex officio)
The farm Committee is responsible for oversight of the
Company’s finance and statutory reporting practices,
risk management, and related issues including internal
and external audits, financial information and accounting
controls, management of investments, the Company’s
ancillary activities, share register, agreements with
government and identifying risks to the Company and
the risk management framework. A representative from
the auditor may attend meetings of this committee from
time to time (by invitation).
REMUNERATION AND
NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
Membership: Patrick Largier (Chair), Steve Fawns,
Phil Snowden, Waander Van Beek
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee
considers conditions of employment and remuneration
of all staff and in particular the Chief Executive Officer,
senior management and directors, including annual
remuneration and bonuses or other incentives. The
committee also oversees the recruitment of candidates
for consideration by the Board to fill casual vacancies
or additions to the Board and for devising criteria for
Board membership and reviewing membership of
the Board.

CONTROL FRAMEWORKS
The Board is committed to ensuring that appropriate
frameworks are in place and regularly reviewed in
relation to:
a) Internal controls
b) Sound annual budgeting and financial
management processes including capital
budgeting and expenditure, procurement,
investment of reserves and taxation management
c) Adequate and appropriate monthly reporting
of both financial and operational performance is
provided by management to the Board
d) Safety, risk and compliance management and
business continuity planning
e) Preparation of annual and half-yearly financial
statements
f) Assurance reporting on the above topics by both
management and the company auditor.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

SUSTAINABILITY

The Company’s Risk Management Framework adopted
concepts and principles identified in the
ISO 31000:2018 – Risk Management standard.

Murray Irrigation is committed to the long-term
sustainability of its operations and aims to optimise the
social, environmental, workplace and economic impact
of its operations for the benefit of all stakeholders.

The framework of policy, processes and guidelines
was established to ensure that the Company’s risk
and compliance functions, systems, attributes and
responsibilities are monitored and updated appropriately
across the business. These risk management systems
identify the:
a) Nature and likelihood of occurrence for specific
material risks
b) Key controls that are in place to mitigate and
manage the risk
c) Sources and levels of assurance provided on the
effective operation of key controls
d) Responsibilities for managing these risks
e) Applicability of a Business Continuity Plan.

COMPANY POLICIES

The Company will develop and maintain appropriate
policies and protocols to achieve these aims, in
accordance with the licences and the regulated
environment in which it operates.

DIVERSITY
The Company provides a report to the Workplace
Gender Equality Agency each year.

SHAREHOLDER
COMMUNICATIONS
Murray Irrigation maintains a variety of communication
methods with its shareholders to ensure appropriate
and timely information is provided:

The Board ensures that Company policies and
procedures are regularly reviewed, updated, current
and appropriate.

a)
b)
c)
d)

STRATEGIC PLANNING AND
CORPORATE CULTURE

e)
f)
g)
h)

The Board maintains and monitors the Company’s
performance against a five-year Strategic Plan which
it reviews and approves each year. The Strategic Plan
defines the underlying values and objectives of the
Company and drives company activities and policy
development and delivery.

BOARD AND SENIOR
EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION
Remuneration levels and terms of employment for
directors and senior executives are formalised in
individual agreements.
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee
regularly reviews the Company’s remuneration strategy,
policy and framework.
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Website
Annual Report
Annual General Meeting
Regular customer information and
consultation meetings
Weekly bulletins (Talking Water)
Australia Post
Email
Social media channels, such as Twitter.

Murray Irrigation’s website provides stakeholders with
a range of information about the Company, including
its operations, history, strategies, values, market
information about tradeable products and shareholder
reports.
Specialist customer service personnel assist in
responding promptly to all shareholder and customer
enquiries. Such personnel include, but are not limited
to, Customer Support Officers, Permanent Trade
Officers and the Company Secretary.
Murray Irrigation encourages its shareholders to
participate in its Annual General Meeting and other
relevant meetings hosted by the Company from time to
time.

DIRECTORS
PHIL SNOWDEN
CHAIR
GAICD

Mr Snowden is a
shareholder director
who was elected to the
Board on 28 November
2017. He served as Chair of
the Company’s interim Board
from November 2017 to June 2018, before being
elected Chair of the current Board in June 2018.
Mr Snowden operates a mixed irrigated and dryland
farming business near Finley. He has been associated
with Berriquin Irrigators’ Council for more than
20 years, including five years as secretary/treasurer.
He is also a foundation board member of Southern
Growers, a foundation member of the Australian
Fodder Industry Association, a former member of the
Murray Local Land Services community advisory panel
and president of Fullers Road Landcare.

WAANDER VAN BEEK

CLAIRE FILSON
DEPUTY CHAIR

MBA, LLB, GradDip. App Corp
Gov, MAICD

Ms Filson is an
independent director
who was appointed to
the Board in June 2018 and
elected Deputy Chair on 7 June
2018. Ms Filson has extensive industry experience
in infrastructure and property, including utilities
(water), ports, roads, rail and construction, as well
as financial services including superannuation,
insurance and funds management. Ms Filson brings
20 years’ experience on state and federal government
boards, as well as private sector businesses, chairing
audit, finance, risk, compliance and remuneration
committees.

RYAN GLEESON
MAICD

Mr Van Beek is a
shareholder director
who was appointed to
the Board on 28
November 2017. He
has been an irrigator for
more than 40 years and has
mixed farm interests, which include rice growing.
Mr Van Beek also has significant experience in local
government, spending many years as a councillor on
the Berrigan Shire Council. He is also Chairman of
Cow Bank Pty Ltd.
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Mr Gleeson is a
shareholder director
who was elected to
the Board in May 2018.
He and his family run a
mixed farming operation near
Wakool. Mr Gleeson has over 10 years’ experience as
an accountant and business advisor. In addition to the
family farm, Mr Gleeson also runs his own business,
helping farmers implement and use farm accounting
software.

NOEL BAXTER

STEVEN FAWNS

AdvDipFarmMgt, MAICD

Mr Baxter is a
shareholder director
who was elected to the
Board in May 2018.
He operates a mixed
irrigated farming business
10 kilometres north of Berrigan. Mr Baxter is a director
of Baxter Family Farms which also operates irrigated
properties in the West Corurgan, Coleambally and
Murrumbidgee irrigation areas.

Mr Fawns is a
shareholder director
who was appointed
to the Board in May
2018. He operates a
mixed irrigation business
east of Deniliquin. Mr Fawns
is also a government-accredited safety assessor
and owns a local business which provides high risk
training and assessment to industry. During previous
employment, Mr Fawns served in East Timor as a UN
Peacekeeper and later as an Antarctic expeditioner. He
is active in community groups including the Rural Fire
Service and Deniliquin RSL sub-branch.

PATRICK LARGIER

DON MARPLES

B. Sc (Chem Eng), AMP
HBS, GAICD

B. Com (Acc. & Fin.),
M. Com, GAICD,
FAICD, Senior Fellow FINSIA,
SecInstDip

Mr Largier is an
independent director
who was appointed
to the Board in June
2018. He is an experienced
		
non-executive director across a
number of industries, including agricultural businesses.
In his executive life, Mr Largier had over 30 years’
experience in the oil, chemicals and mining sectors in
Australia, the United Kingdom and South Africa. Mr
Largier was previously Managing Director of Ludowici,
an ASX-listed global specialist mining services
company. Prior to this, he spent 15 years with ICI
Australia/Orica in senior executive and business
management roles.

								

Mr Marples is an
independent director
who was appointed to the
Board in June 2018. He is an
experienced non-executive director in both the public
and private sectors across a number of industries,
including major infrastructure and water entities
State Water and Wide Bay Water. Mr Marples
previously held senior roles at Lend Lease and the
Commonwealth Bank.
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COMPANY PROFILE
AND EXECUTIVE
MANAGEMENT TEAM

EXECUTIVE TEAM
MICHAEL RENEHAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
June 2015 – 30 June 2019

ABOUT US
Murray Irrigation is Australia’s largest private irrigation
company, formed in 1995 as an unlisted public company.
The Company is based in the southern Riverina,
NSW, and its shareholders are irrigator-customers
representing 1,466 customers who own over 2,117
landholdings within our area of operations, covering
724,000 hectares.

VISION, MISSION
AND VALUES
Enrich the prosperity of a region that is highly valued for
its contribution to Australian agriculture.
Our mission is to provide reliable, efficient,
cost-effective water delivery services and defend and
promote the interests of the region.
Our core values are Wellbeing and Safety, Accountability,
Teamwork, Embrace change and respect.

BOARD
The Murray Irrigation Board has five shareholder
directors and three independent directors.
The Board collaborates with the executive team
in setting the Company’s strategic objectives and
oversees management’s implementation of it.
Shareholder directors are not farmer representatives,
but instead provide critical farming insights to the
Board’s decision making. Shareholder directors are
elected by shareholders for a four-year term.
Non-shareholder directors are selected for their
specialist expertise.
They are nominated by the shareholder directors and
their appointment is endorsed by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting.
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MBA, M. Eng (Chem), MAICD

Michael Renehan has a strong
background in engineering and manufacturing
with more than 17 years’ experience in CEO and
general management. He holds a Master of Business
Administration from Deakin University, a Masters in
Chemical Engineering from RMIT and is a member of
the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
The CEO is responsible for providing the organisation
with strategic leadership and organising the structure
of the company to deliver services that achieve its
vision, mission and values.

SCOTT BARLOW
EXECUTIVE GENERAL
MANAGER WATER DELIVERY
AssocDip Applied Science

Scott commenced at Murray Irrigation
in April 1996. He holds significant and diverse
experience within the bulk irrigation industry.
Scott has a background in both irrigated and mixed
dryland farming and experience in the forestry and
agricultural sectors. Scott has an Associate Diploma in
Applied Science.
Scott’s expertise and leadership played a significant role
in the company’s transition from manual to automated
operations and continued improvements to efficiency
within the delivery network. He leads a team that
focusses on customer-facing operational performance,
water maximisation, business planning, operations,
support and account management.
WATER DELIVERY
The Water Delivery team comprises Operations,
Business Planning, Customer Support and Account
Management. Together the team is responsible for
water delivery to landholdings and for the provision
of domestic supplies to Berrigan, Finley, Wakool and
Bunnaloo. Water Delivery is also responsible for all
customer-facing activities including reception, account
management, business development, customer
consultation and on-farm irrigation efficiency projects,
as well as order scheduling, account administration and
temporary water transfer and trade.

SUNI CAMPBELL
EXECUTIVE GENERAL
MANAGER BUSINESS SERVICES
B. Bus (Human Resources Mgt), GAICD

Suni started with Murray Irrigation
in January 2016. She has extensive experience in
People and Culture, business transformation and
management, with a history of implementing change
and process improvement strategies to support
business outcomes. Suni holds a Bachelor of Business
(HRM) and GAICD and has worked in senior roles
across Australia and Asia Pacific within water, mining,
on-shore oil drilling and the not-for-profit sector.
BUSINESS SERVICES
The Business Services team incorporates People and
Safety, Compliance, Information, Communications
and Technology (ICT), Contracts and Procurement,
Corporate Affairs, Company Secretary and Governance.
The People and Safety team supports the management
of people within the organisation and is responsible
for employee engagement, leadership development,
training and development, performance management,
culture and change, remuneration and benefits,
attraction, selection and retention, workforce planning,
payroll, diversity and entry level programs, workers’
compensation and return-to-work programs.
The Compliance team is responsible for ensuring Murray
Irrigation’s legal, corporate and licencing requirements
are met. Additionally, the team manages Permanent
Water Trade, and Licencing and Sustainability.
ICT is responsible for the Company’s information
systems technology, communications platforms,
geographic information systems (GIS), software and
databases, and the telemetry and SCADA control
system. SCADA technicians provide the technical
expertise in the running of the entire channel system.
The ICT team manages the Company’s servers,
internet services, website and strategic partnerships
with internet and telecommunications providers.
The GIS reporting staff are responsible for all mapping
requests, coordinating satellite imagery and providing
service to staff and customers.
Contracts and Procurement are accountable for
managing the Company’s purchasing and ensuring
sound commercial principles are applied across the
company.
Corporate Affairs promotes and protects the Company’s
reputation and commercial interests. Its responsibilities
include employee and shareholder engagement, industry
relations and media liaison. Corporate Affairs produces

								

the annual report, website content and customer and
workplace communications.
The Company Secretary and Governance team is
accountable for ensuring sound governance principles
are applied across the company and frameworks are
maintained. The team is also accountable for internal
audit, risk, quality, strategy and planning.

WARREN JOSE
EXECUTIVE GENERAL
MANAGER MAJOR
ENGINEERING PROJECTS
BEng, MEngSc, MIE Aust

Warren started with Murray Irrigation in April 2015.
He brings over 25 years of Australian and international
engineering experience in the design, development and
delivery of complex infrastructure projects. Warren has
tertiary and post graduate qualifications in engineering.
Prior to joining Murray Irrigation, Warren held the role
of General Manager Infrastructure Delivery at Central
Highlands Water in Ballarat.
Warren is responsible for the oversight and management
of Murray Irrigation’s capital expenditure program and
is directly responsible for the delivery of infrastructure
investment initiatives, such as the Commonwealth’s
Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program
(PIIOP).
MAJOR ENGINEERING PROJECTS
The Major Engineering Projects team provides project
management, engineering, design, construction and
commissioning expertise to Murray Irrigation and
delivers approximately $35M of infrastructure projects
annually. The team delivered the $206M PIIOP2
project which has modernised the Company’s irrigation
network and finalised its involvement by completing
upgrades in the Main canals in winter 2019 under
the PIIOP3 $50M program. This concludes the
modernisation of the main arteries of the system.
modernisation of the main arteries of the system.
MILCAST
MILCast joined the Major Engineering Projects team
on 1 May 2018. MILCast designs, manufactures and
supplies precast concrete products for agricultural
and other commercial customers across south-eastern
Australia. Its key customers include Murray Irrigation
and its shareholders, Murrumbidgee Irrigation,
Goulburn-Murray Water and farmers in southern NSW
and northern Victoria.

www.murrayirrigation.com.au | 33

LACHLAN KNIGHT
EXECUTIVE GENERAL
MANAGER INFRASTRUCTURE

OTHER EXECUTIVE
APPOINTMENTS

BEng(Mech)(Hons), BCom

Lachlan joined Murray Irrigation in
September 2017. He is an experienced maintenance
and asset management leader with more than
15 years’ experience across the automotive,
manufacturing and mining industries. Most recently,
he worked for Newcrest Mining Limited as Manager
Maintenance and Asset Management. Lachlan holds a
Bachelor of Engineering (Mechanical) (Honours) and a
Bachelor of Commerce from the University
of Melbourne.
INFRASTRUCTURE
The Infrastructure team is responsible for the
whole-of-life management of the Company’s irrigation
and drainage assets, including more than 20,000
structures. The team is responsible for all maintenance
works on the irrigation and storm water escape system
and minor construction work.
Additional responsibilities include the operation and
maintenance of the Wakool Tullakool Sub-Surface
Drainage Scheme, the Company’s groundwater
pumping scheme, fleet management and stores.

LINDA CHRISTESEN
POLICY MANAGER

Bachelor of Science (Hons)

Linda commenced at
Murray Irrigation in January 2019.
Prior to her role with Murray Irrigation, Linda was a
member of the Victorian Public Service for 12 years,
holding senior policy roles in the Department of
Premier and Cabinet, Department of Environment,
Land, Water and Planning and the Victorian Fisheries
Authority. She has a long history of experience
in Murray-Darling Basin water management and
holds a detailed operational understanding of the
Commonwealth Water Act, Murray-Darling Basin
Agreement and Murray-Darling Basin Plan.
Reporting directly to the CEO, and working closely
with Murray Irrigation’s Board, Linda provides strategic
advice on water policy issues facing the Company, its
shareholders and customers.
She also supports Murray Irrigation in maintaining and
strengthening its relationships with key external partners
both within the region and across the
Murray-Darling Basin.
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DIRECTORS’
REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Your Directors present their report together with the accounts of the consolidated entity for the financial
year ended 30 June 2019 and the Auditor’s report thereon.

DIRECTORS
The following people were Directors of the Company
during the financial year:
P.D. Snowden (Chair)
C. Filson (Deputy Chair)
N.H. Baxter
S.B. Fawns
R.T. Gleeson
P. Largier
D.F. Marples
W. Van Beek

CONDUCT AND CONFLICT
OF INTEREST
Details of the Company’s Code of Conduct and
approach to conflict of interest are set out in the
Corporate Governance Statement of the Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The relevant interests of the Directors in the share
capital, water entitlements, and delivery entitlements of
the Company, as at 30 June 2019 are as follows:

SHAREHOLDER DIRECTOR

DIRECT SHARES

INDIRECT SHARES

WE

DE

P.D. Snowden

2,087

467

2,422

2,122

W. Van Beek

3,566

-

2,636

2,933

N.H. Baxter

-

9,990

6,467

7,534

S.B. Fawns

1,298

-

1,054

1,079

R.T. Gleeson

1,400

-

16

410

Where a Director is an authorised representative of a corporate entity, the figures above include the holdings of that entity.
Non-member Directors in office during the year were: C. Filson, P. Largier and D.F Marples, who held no Murray Irrigation
shares, water entitlements or delivery entitlements.
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TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

OFFICERS
Persons who are executive officers of the Company as
at 30 June 2019 are:

The Board of Directors has established a minimum
standard that all directors are required to complete the
Company Directors Course provided by the Australian
Institute of Company Directors or equivalent. This
training is provided to Directors elected or appointed
to the Board if they have not already completed the
course.
Directors can seek in connection with their duties and
responsibilities as Directors independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense. Prior written
approval of the Chair is required, which will not be
unreasonably withheld.

COMPANY SECRETARIES

M. Renehan

Chief Executive Officer

S. Barlow
		

Executive General Manager
- Water Delivery

W. Jose
		

Executive General Manager
- Major Engineering Projects

L. Knight

Executive General Manager
- Infrastructure

S. Campbell
		

Company Secretary & Executive
General Manager
- Business Services

A. Bult
		

Assistant Company Secretary &
Governance Officer

The Secretaries of the Company at the end of the
reporting period, together with their qualifications and
experience, is set out below:
S. Campbell (appointed 23 May 2019)
B. Bus (Human Resources Mgt), GAICD
Ms Campbell is the Company Secretary and Executive
General Manager Business Services.
A. Bult (appointed 24 August 2018)
GIA(Cert)
Ms Bult is the Assistant Company Secretary and
Governance Officer.

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The following table sets out the number of meetings of
the Directors during the financial year to 30 June 2019,
including meetings of committees, and the number of
meetings attended by Directors.

NAME

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

ATTENDED

FINANCE, AUDIT &
RISK MANAGEMENT

HELD

ATTENDED

REMUNERATION & NOMINATIONS

HELD

ATTENDED

HELD

P.D Snowden

9

9

3*

6

-

-

N.H Baxter

9

9

6

6

-

-

S. Fawns

9

9

-

-

3

3

C. Filson

9

9

6

6

-

-

R.T Gleeson

9

9

6

6

-

-

P Largier

9

9

-

-

3

3

D Marples

9

9

6

6

-

-

W. Van Beek

9

9

-

-

3

3

* Not a member; attended ex officio
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

DIVIDENDS

The principal activity of the Company during the year
consisted of the delivery of water to landholders within
an area from the Murray River to the Billabong Creek
extending 150 kilometres to the west and 100 kilometres
to the east of Deniliquin.

The Company is a not-for-profit organisation whose
Constitution prohibits the Company from paying
dividends.

OPTIONS
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
AND RESULTS FROM
THOSE OPERATIONS

There are no securities under option or in respect of
which options have been created, nor have any options
been exercised.

The Company recorded a loss of $12.7 million for the
year. The results of the operating units of the Company
are set out below:

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

IRRIGATION ACTIVITIES
A total of 296GL of water was delivered to our irrigator
customers for the year ended 30 June 2019, compared
to 792GL in the prior financial year and accordingly,
water delivery revenue was less than the previous year.

conditions during the reporting period. Our Annual

Gross profit improved by $2.57 million over the prior
year even though water delivery volume was less.
Expenditure increased by $2.02 million compared to
2017/18 and this resulted in an EBITDA improvement
of $0.55 million in comparison to the previous financial
year. The major expenditure increases primarily relate
to termination payments to employees of $0.29 million,
an increase in salaries and wages of $0.93 million and
costs relating to projects unable to be capitalised of
$0.67 million.
MILCAST
The financial performance of this business unit declined
by $0.85 million to $(0.3) million at an EBITDA level
compared to the previous financial year. The gross
margin for 2018/19 was 15% compared to 27%
in 2017/18. Expenses were $0.2 million higher in
2018/19.

REVENUE FROM
CONTRIBUTED ASSETS AND
TAXATION ASSESSMENTS
Under the Corporations Act, compliance with
accounting standards is mandatory.
Accounting
Standard AASB 1004 requires that infrastructure
works, when constructed, to the extent to which their
cost has been met from government funding, be treated
as revenue of the Company even though the receipt of
the funding is not revenue of the Company.
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The Company holds an Environment Protection Licence
issued by the NSW Environment Protection Authority.
There have been no known breaches of the licence

Compliance Report, which includes an assessment of
compliance with the Company’s Environment Protection
Licence, is available on our website
www.murrayirrigation.com.au.

CHANGES IN THE STATE
OF AFFAIRS
In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant
changes in the state of affairs of the Company during
the financial year not otherwise disclosed in this report
and financial statements.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT
TO THE END OF THE
FINANCIAL PERIOD
At 6 September 2019 the New South Wales Murray
general security allocation was zero percent. The
Bureau of Meteorology outlook for October to
December 2019 indicates conditions for the region are
likely to remain dry with above average temperatures.
Due to the challenging climatic outlook, the Company
may not be in a position to deliver its budgeted volume
of water during the coming season. We are advocating
strongly for improved water security and allocations.
At a Board meeting held on 25 September 2019, it was
resolved to pursue the sale of the business unit known
as MILCast as a going concern. An estimate of the
financial impact of this proposed sale is unable to be
made at present.

There has been no other item, transaction or event of
a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of
the Directors, to affect materially the operations of the
Company, the results of those operations or the state of
affairs of the Company, in subsequent financial years.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS
AND EXPECTED RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS
The Company’s results are influenced by the level of its
operating costs, the amounts required to be set aside in
reserves, and income derived from the delivery of water
and receipt of government grants. The unpredictability of
the available water resource, government requirements
and river management mean it is not possible to
accurately predict the results of operations.

INDEMNIFICATION AND
INSURANCE OF OFFICERS
The current and former Directors and Company
Secretaries of the Company are indemnified under the
Company’s Constitution.
The indemnity extends to such other current and former
Directors and Company Secretaries of related bodies
corporate of the Company as the Directors of the
Company determine. The indemnity does not extend
to actions undertaken in any period after the relevant
person has ceased to hold office.
The indemnified officers are indemnified on a full
indemnity basis and to the full extent permitted by law
against all losses, liabilities, charges and expenses
incurred by the officer as an officer of the Company or
of a related body corporate.
The Company has executed deeds of indemnity in favour
of certain current and former Directors of the Company,
in each case as permitted under the Company’s
Constitution and the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
Under the deeds of indemnity, the Company indemnifies
each indemnified officer against any all losses, liabilities,
charges and expenses incurred by the officer in respect
of any act or omission during the officer’s appointment
period, subject to section 199A of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium
for insurance indemnifying the current and former
Directors, Company Secretaries and other officers
of the Company. A condition of the contract is that
the nature of the liability indemnified and the premium
payable not be disclosed.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
TO THE NEAREST
THOUSAND DOLLARS
The Company is of a kind referred to in Instrument
2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities &
Investment Commission, relating to the rounding of
amounts in the Directors’ report and the accompanying
financial statements, which have been rounded off in
accordance with that Instrument to the nearest thousand
dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE
DECLARATION
The Auditor’s Independence Declaration is set out
following these financial statements and forms part of
the Directors’ report.
This report is made pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors.

PHIL SNOWDEN
CHAIRMAN
25 SEPTEMBER 2019

RYAN GLEESON
DIRECTOR
25 SEPTEMBER 2019

The deeds in favour of the indemnified officers of the
Company also give the indemnified officers certain
rights of access to the Company’s papers and require
the Company to maintain insurance cover for each
indemnified officer.
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C O N S O L I D AT E D S TAT E M E N T O F
PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
Consolidated
NOTES

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

Revenue from irrigation undertaking

2

29,707

34,096

Other revenue

2

14,994

46,449

Employee benefit expenses

(14,457)

(12,967)

Materials and contracts expenses

(11,173)

(14,745)

(11,230)

(10,015)

-

790

(4,683)

(11,643)

(3,628)

(9,332)

(470)

22,633

Income tax (expense)/benefit

(12,267)

(4,486)

Profit/(Loss) for the year

(12,737)

18,147

Available for sale financial assets - gains net of tax

-

141

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

141

(12,737)

18,288

Depreciation

3(a)

Impairment of water infrastructure assets
Bulk water supply expenses
Other expenses
Profit/(Loss) before income tax

3(c)

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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C O N S O L I D AT E D S TAT E M E N T
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Consolidated
NOTES

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

5

21,615

37,796

Trade and other receivables

6

14,454

13,295

Inventories

7

2,945

4,099

39,014

55,190

Total current assets

Non-current assets
Financial assets

8

83,228

85,932

Property, plant and equipment

9

300,848

286,379

Deferred tax assets

10

6,948

6,454

Intangible assets

11

92,412

92,412

Total non-current assets

483,436

471,177

Total assets

522,450

526,367

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

12

12,845

14,761

Provisions

13

2,217

2,130

Current liabilities - Other

14

18,764

20,884

-

-

33,826

37,775

Current tax liabilities
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

15

46,600

33,839

Provisions

16

427

419

Total non-current liabilities

47,027

34,258

Total liabilities

80,853

72,033

441,597

454,334

17

284,723

284,723

Reserves

18(a)

20,000

20,190

Retained profits

18(b)

136,874

149,421

441,597

454,334

Net assets

Equity
Contributed equity

Total equity
The above consolidated statement of Financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

								

www.murrayirrigation.com.au | 43

C O N S O L I D AT E D S TAT E M E N T
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Consolidated
CONTRIBUTED
EQUITY

RESERVES

RETAINED
EARNINGS

TOTAL

(‘000)

(‘000)

(‘000)

(‘000)

284,723

20,049

131,274

436,046

Total comprehensive income

-

141

18,147

18,288

Transfer to contributed asset reserve

-

-

-

-

284,723

20,190

149,421

454,334

284,723

20,190

149,421

454,334

-

(190)

190

-

284,723

20,000

149,611

454,334

-

-

(12,737)

(12,737)

284,723

20,000

136,874

441,597

Balance at 30 June 2017

Balance at 30 June 2018

Adjustment on adoption of AASB 9
Adjusted balance at 1 July 2018

Total comprehensive income
Balance at 30 June 2019

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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C O N S O L I D AT E D C A S H
F L O W S TAT E M E N T
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Consolidated
NOTES

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

41,148

44,631

(40,623)

(46,177)

525

(1,546)

Grants received from government

3,884

22,015

Net cash inflows from non-core operating activities

3,884

22,015

Interest received on investments

2,422

2,447

Purchase of financial assets

2,687

(60,755)

Payment for property, plant and equipment

(25,699)

(44,188)

Net cash inflows/(outflows) from investing activities

(20,590)

(102,496)

-

-

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

(16,181)

(82,027)

Cash at the beginning on the financial year

37,796

119,823

21,615

37,796

Cash flows from core operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from operating activities

Cash flows from non-core operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Net cash outflows from financing activities

Cash at the end of the financial year

5

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE
F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

1. SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
This general purpose financial report covers the
consolidated entity of Murray Irrigation Limited (“the
Company”) and its controlled entity, Riverbank Holdings
Pty Ltd (“Consolidated Entity” or “Group”). Murray
Irrigation Limited is a public Company limited by shares,
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
Because the Company’s principal purpose is to provide
cost effective services to its shareholders, rather than to
generate profits, the Company is a not-for-profit entity
as defined in the Accounting Standards. Accordingly,
the Company has applied the Accounting Standards as
they apply to not-for-profit entities, although it is also tax
assessable.
The following is a summary of the material financial
accounting policies that have been adopted by the
Consolidated Entity in the preparation of the financial
report. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements have been prepared using the
measurement bases specified by Australian Accounting
Standards for each type of asset, liability, income
and expense. The measurement bases are more fully
described in the accounting policies below.
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars,
which is also the Consolidated Entity’s functional
currency.

(A) NEW OR AMENDED
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS
ADOPTED
The Company has adopted all of the new or amended
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the
Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that
are mandatory for the current reporting period. Any new
or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations
that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.
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The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations
are most relevant to the Company:
AASB 9 Financial Instruments
AASB 9 Financial Instruments replaces AASB 139
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
It makes major changes to the previous guidance on
the classification and measurement of financial assets
and introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ model for
impairment of financial assets.
The Company has assessed the classification and
measurement of the Company’s financial liabilities and
financial assets.
When adopting AASB 9, the Group has applied
transitional relief and opted not to restate prior periods.
Differences arising from the adoption of AASB 9 in
relation to classification, measurement, and impairment
are recognised in opening retained earnings as at 1 July
2018.
The adoption of AASB 9 has impacted in the following
areas:
Classification and measurement of financial assets
Investments – Available for sale financial assets under
AASB 139 included investments in managed funds that
have been reclassified to fair value through profit or loss
(FVPL) under AASB 9. $190,389 was transferred from
the available for sale financial assets reserve to retained
earnings on 1 July 2018.
Impairment of financial assets
AASB 9’s new impairment model applies more forward
looking information to recognise expected credit
losses – the ‘expected credit losses (ECL) model’. The
application of the new impairment model depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk.
The Company considers a broader range of information
when assessing credit risk and measuring expected
credit risk and measuring expected credit losses,
including past events, current conditions, reasonable
and supportable forecasts that affect the expected
collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

For trade receivables the Company applies a simplified
approach of recognising lifetime expected credit losses
as these do not have a significant financing component.
The impact of the transition did not have a material
impact on the financial statements.
Reconciliation of financial instruments on adoption of
AASB 9
On the date of initial application, 1 July 2018, the
financial instruments of the Company were reclassified
as follows:

MEASUREMENT
CATEGORY
NOTES

ORIGINAL AASB
139 CATEGORY

CARRYING
AMOUNT
NEW AASB 9
CATEGORY

CLOSING
BALANCE 30
JUNE 2018
(AASB 139)

ADOPTION
OF AASB 9

OPENING
BALANCE 1
JULY 2018
(AASB 9)

(‘000)

(‘000)

(‘000)

Assets
Current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

5

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

37,796

-

37,796

Trade and other receivables

6

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

13,295

-

13,295

8

Available for sale

FVPL

85,932

-

85,932

137,023

-

137,023

Non-current financial assets
Managed fund investments
Total financial asset balance

Liabilities
Current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

12

Total financial liabilities

(B)

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

14,761

-

14,761

14,761

-

14,761

(C) INCOME TAX

These consolidated financial statements are general
purpose financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting
Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board.

The income tax expense for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based
on the notional income tax rate adjusted by changes
in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements, and to unused tax losses.

In the determination of whether an asset or liability is
current or non-current, consideration is given to the time
when each asset or liability is expected to be realised or
paid. The asset or liability is classified as current if it is
expected to be turned over within 12 months, or if the
Company does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least 12 months after the
reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for
temporary differences at the tax rates expected to
apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are
settled, based on those tax rates which are currently
enacted. The relevant tax rates are applied to the
cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary
differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability.
An exception is made for certain temporary differences
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arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a
liability. No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in
relation to these temporary differences if they arose in
a transaction that at the time of the transaction did not
affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to
utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Current
and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts
recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly
in equity.

(D) REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities
as follows:
(I) WATER SALES
Revenue from the sale of water is recognised when
the water is delivered to customers. All water usage
measurement is completed before the end of the financial
year, as the ‘irrigation season’ generally concludes in
May. Fixed access and other fees are recognised on a
pro-rata basis throughout the year.
(II) RECOGNITION OF REVENUE ARISING FROM
CONTRIBUTED ASSETS
The Company is the implementing authority in
respect of a number of Land and Water Management
Plans. Expenditure on these plans was reimbursed
to the Company by the NSW State Government, the
Commonwealth Government, relevant local government
authorities and irrigation customer shareholders. Levies
received from irrigation customer shareholders are
considered to be payments for services performed,
primarily for maintenance of drainage assets. In
accordance with AASB 118 Revenue, when the outcome
of a transaction involving the rendering of services can
be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the
transaction shall be recognised by reference to the
stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the
reporting period. Where there is an obligation to provide
these drainage maintenance services at reporting date,
revenue has been deferred in accordance with AASB
118 (refer note 14). Amounts received from government
bodies are defined as a contribution and are accounted
for under AASB 1004 Contributions. Income arising
from the contribution of an asset to the Company
is recognised when the entity obtains control of the
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contribution or the right to receive the contribution, it
is probable that the economic benefits comprising the
contribution will flow to the Company, and the amount
of the contribution can be measured reliably. The entity
does not obtain control of a contribution under such
an agreement until it has met conditions or provided
services or facilities that make it eligible to receive a
contribution. Revenue is therefore deferred until such
conditions have been met.
(III) ON-FARM IRRIGATION
EFFICIENCY PROGRAM
The Company has been contracted as a delivery partner
for implementation of the Commonwealth Government
funded On-Farm Irrigation Efficiency Program which
is funded under the Water for the Future Sustainable
Rural Water Use and Infrastructure Program. The
Commonwealth of Australia has a Funding Agreement
with the Company and a contract for the purchase of
Water Entitlements with the landholder. The Company
has contracted the landholder to complete water
efficiency investments on their landholding. The
Company’s role is to ensure that funds from government
are spent in accordance with the Funding Agreement,
and the funds are received by the Company and paid to
the landholders as their projects meet the funding criteria
in their agreements. As the Company is considered to
be acting as the agent in this program, gross revenue
and expenditure relating to the funds received from the
government and distributed to proponent landholders is
not recognised by the Company. Funds received and
unspent are held in bank accounts controlled by the
Company. Unspent funds are recognised as a liability
(refer note 14). The Company’s administration costs
are reimbursed from program funds and are recognised
as revenue as administration services are provided.
(IV) PRIVATE IRRIGATION INFRASTRUCTURE
OPERATORS PROGRAM (PIIOP)
During 2013, the Company and the then Department
of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population and
Communities (representing the Commonwealth) (“the
Department”) signed the Funding Agreement for
implementation of the Company’s Private Irrigation
Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) project.
Broadly, this Funding Agreement can be attributed to
three categories:
• Payments to be made to landholders to surrender
their Irrigation Rights;
• Payments to the Company to surrender Conveyance
Water Access Entitlements; and
• Amounts to be spent on new capital works to improve
the water infrastructure of the Company.
For the portion of the grants relating to payments to be
made to landholders, the Company’s role is to ensure

that irrigation rights are surrendered in accordance
with the Funding Agreement. The funds are received
by the Company and paid to the landholders as
their water rights are surrendered and they meet the
funding criteria in their agreements. As the Company is
considered to be acting as the agent in this component
of the program, gross revenue and expenditure
relating to the funds received from the government and
distributed to proponent landholders is not recognised
by the Company. Funds received and unspent are held
in bank accounts controlled by the Company, with a
corresponding liability recognised as disclosed in note
14.
In relation to the Company’s surrender of Conveyance
Water Access Entitlements (water rights), there are
no specific obligations (other than transfer to the
Commonwealth of the relevant water access licences)
or spending requirements attached to this portion of the
grants. Accordingly, these funds are recognised as they
are received and the water licences are surrendered.
Funding relating to capital works is allocated to specific
projects and milestones which are to be completed
by the Company. Under the terms of the Funding
Agreement, the Commonwealth can require the return
of funding that: has not been spent, or legally and
irrevocably committed for expenditure, in accordance
with the Funding Agreement; or has not been (correctly)
spent, or dealt with, in accordance with the Funding
Agreement.
Government contributions for Private Irrigation
Infrastructure Operators Program 2 (PIIOP Round
2): Contributions received from the government
for infrastructure improvements are recognised as
revenue as the relevant expenditure is incurred. As
the consolidated entity is obliged under the terms
of the funding agreement to undertake the relevant
infrastructure works or refund the money, any
unexpended funds at balance date are brought to
account as a liability.
Government contributions for Private Irrigation
Infrastructure Operators Program 3 (PIIOP Round
3): Contributions received from the government for
infrastructure improvements are recognised as revenue
on a percentage of completion basis, as the relevant
expenditure is incurred and when water entitlements
are returned. As this arrangement constitutes a bundled
contract, revenue relating to each element is recognised
proportional to their fair value at contract date as if they
were sold independently of each other.
As the Company is obliged under the terms of the funding
agreement to undertake the relevant infrastructure
works or refund the money, any unexpended funds,
equivalent to any unperformed work, at balance date
are brought to account as a liability.

								

(V) INTEREST INCOME
Interest income is recognised when earned.
(VI) REVENUE FROM THE SALE OF ASSETS
Revenue from the sale of fixed assets is recognised
when risks and rewards have been passed to the buyer.
(VII) TERMINATION FEES
Termination fees are charged and recognised at the
time permanent water transfers occur and associated
delivery entitlements are cancelled.
(VIII) SALE OF GOODS
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration
received or receivable. Revenue from sale of goods is
recognised upon delivery of the goods to the customers
and associated risks of ownership have passed. All
revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and
services tax (GST), returns, trade allowances and other
duties and taxes paid.
(IX) SUSTAINABILITY PRODUCTS
Revenue from the sale of water from the Sustainability
Product initiative is recognised when the water is
allocated to a customer.

(E) CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash
and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits
held at call with financial institutions, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

(F) TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables are measured on initial recognition at
fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method. Amortised
cost is the total receivable less any amounts received
and impairment losses. Appropriate allowances for
estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit
or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
amount expected to be recovered.
Refer to note 1(aa) for further information in regard
to the Group’s estimate of the recoverable amount of
debtors.
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(G) INTEREST ON WATER
DEBTORS ACCOUNTS
Interest is charged on water customers’ accounts
which are overdue and outside of the normal credit
arrangements.

• amortised cost
• fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
• equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI)
• debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI)
Classifications are determined by both:

(H) INVENTORIES
Raw materials and stores are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. As the Company is a
not-for-profit entity, it considers the remaining service
potential of inventories when assessing the net realisable
value of items held for distribution or use in delivering
a service to members. The cost of manufactured
products includes direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate portion of variable and fixed overheads.
Costs are assigned on the basis of weighted average
costs.

(I) FINANCIAL ASSETS
(I) RECOGNITION, INITIAL MEASUREMENT
AND DERECOGNITION
Financial assets are recognised when the Company
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument, and are measured initially at fair
value adjusted by transactions costs, except for those
carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are
measured initially at fair value. Subsequent measurement
of financial assets are described below.
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and all substantial risks
and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is
derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,
cancelled or expires

• The entities business model for managing the
financial asset
• The contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial assets
All income and expenses relating to financial assets
that are recognised in profit or loss are presented
within finance costs, finance income or other financial
items, except for impairment of trade receivables,
which is presented within other expenses.
(III) SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as FVPL):
• they are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual
cash flows
• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding
After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is
omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and
most other receivables fall into this category of financial
instruments as well as government bonds that were
previously classified as held-to-maturity under AASB
139.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL):

(II) CLASSIFICATION AND SUBSEQUENT
MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price, all financial assets are initially
measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs
(where applicable).
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial
assets other than those designated and effective as
hedging instruments are classified into the following
categories upon initial recognition:

Financial assets that are held within a different business
model other than ‘hold to collect’ or ‘hold to collect and
sell’ are categorised at fair value through profit and
loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial
assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest are accounted for at
FVPL. All derivative financial instruments fall into this
category, except for those designated and effective as
hedging instruments, for which the hedge accounting
requirements apply.
Impairment of financial assets:
AASB 9’s impairment requirements applies more forward
looking information to recognise expected credit losses
– the ‘expected credit losses (ECL) model’. Instruments
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within the scope of the new requirements included
loans and other debt-type financial assets measured
at amortised cost and FVOCI, trade receivables, loan
commitments and some financial guarantee contracts
(for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value
through profit or loss.
The Group considers a broader range of information
when assessing credit risk and measuring expected
credit losses, including past events, current conditions,
reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the
expected collectability of the future cash flows of the
instrument.
In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction
is made between:
• financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition
or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and
• financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition
and whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’).
‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have
objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date.
‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for
the first category while ‘lifetime expected credit losses’
are recognised for the second category.
Measurement of the expected credit losses is
determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.
Trade and other receivables and contract assets
The Company makes use of a simplified approach in
accounting for trade and other receivables as well as
contract assets and records the loss allowance at the
amount equal to the expected lifetime credit losses. In
using the practical expedient, the Company uses its
historical experience, external indicators and forwardlooking information to calculate the expected credit
losses using a provision matrix.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value,
and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs
unless the Group designated a financial liability at fair
value through profit or loss.
Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated
at FVPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value
with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss (other
than derivative financial instruments that are designated
and effective as hedging instruments).

								

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes
in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or
loss are included within finance costs or finance income.
ACCOUNTING POLICY APPLICABLE TO
COMPARATIVE PERIOD (30 JUNE 2018)
Available for sale financial assets comprise investments
in managed funds. After initial recognition, these
investments are measured at fair value with gains or
losses recognised in other comprehensive income
(available for sale reserve), except for impairment
losses, which are recognised in profit or loss.
Reversals of impairment losses for available-for-sale
debt securities are recognised in profit or loss if the
reversal can be objectively related to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised. For availablefor-sale equity investments, impairment reversals are not
recognised in profit or loss and any subsequent increase
in fair value is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When the asset is disposed of, the cumulative
gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified from equity reserve to profit or loss and
presented as a reclassification adjustment within other
comprehensive income.

(J) PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment represent non-current
assets comprising land, buildings, infrastructure for the
supply and drainage of water, plant, motor vehicles, radio
technology, office and computer equipment, and land
leased from State or Local Government over or under
which water infrastructure is located. All property, plant
and equipment with a cost value in excess of $1,000
and a useful life of more than one year are recognised
as an asset; all other assets acquired are expensed.
Values are recorded at historical cost less depreciation.
Acquisition cost is determined as the fair value of the
assets given up or liabilities undertaken at the date of
acquisition plus costs incidental to the acquisition. As
the Company is a not for-profit entity, where an asset is
acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, the cost is its
fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on all
infrastructure assets, buildings, plant, equipment and
other non-current physical assets is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate their costs or
re-valued amounts, net of their residual values, over their
estimated remaining useful lives, commencing from the
time the asset is held ready for use. The asset residual
values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at each reporting date. Estimates of
remaining useful lives are made on a periodic basis for
all assets.
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The expected useful lives are as follows:

Water infrastructure

10 to 100 years

Leased assets

40 to 100 years

Buildings

40 years

Plant and equipment

8 to 10 years

Office equipment

3 to 14 years

Motor vehicles

2 to 5 years

(K) LEASED
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Certain assets comprising shire road bridges and
culverts, have been leased by the Company from public
and local authorities for a period of 99 years from
the date of privatisation. The Company is obliged to
maintain these assets during the period of the leases.
These assets, in view of the long term nature of the
leasing arrangements and the future economic benefits
that are likely to eventuate, are included in non-current
assets, on the basis of control (Note 9). Other leases
of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of the asset, but
not the legal ownership, that are transferred to entities
in the Consolidated Entity are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception
of the lease by recording an asset and a liability at the
lower of the amounts equal to the fair value of the leased
property and the present value of the minimum lease
payments, including any guaranteed residual values.
Lease payments are allocated between the reduction
of the lease liability and the lease interest expense.
The interest expense is recognised in the profit or loss
so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability outstanding.
Leased assets are depreciated on a straight line basis
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term. Lease payments for operating leases, where
substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the
lessor, are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

52 | Murray Irrigation Annual Report 2019

(L) NON-CURRENT ASSETS
CONSTRUCTED BY
THE COMPANY
Where assets are constructed by the Company, the
cost at which they are recorded includes all materials
used in construction, direct labour on the project, and
an appropriate share of other directly attributable costs,
such as design and project management.

(M) INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Water licences held by the Company are recognised
at cost less impairment losses. Water rights have
an indefinite useful life, and are thus not subject to
amortisation, but are tested for impairment by comparing
their recoverable amount with their carrying amount.

(N) IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
Assets are reviewed annually for impairment, or
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount.
As the Company is a not-for-profit entity and the future
economic benefits of the Company’s assets is not
primarily dependent on their ability to generate cash
flows, value in use is taken to be the current replacement
cost of the asset, provided that the Company would, if
deprived of the asset, replace it.
The Company’s non-current assets may be carried at
amounts significantly in excess of the values that would
be applied if it were a “for profit” entity in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards and had applied
the impairment rules of a “for profit” entity.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are reviewed
annually as to whether their carrying value exceeds their
recoverable amount.
In addition, the commencement of the PIIOP project
has created an expectation that a significant portion
of the Company’s capital assets will be replaced,
decommissioned or handed over to the landholders
in future years. Where the Company has been able to
make a reasonable estimate of such items, the carrying
amount of the relevant assets has been reduced to
their recoverable amount. That reduction in the carrying
value of the asset is recognised as an impairment loss
through profit and loss.

(O) MAINTENANCE
AND REPAIRS
Maintenance, repair costs and minor renewals are
charged as expenses occur on the basis that asset
lives are being preserved to expectation, rather than
extended. Where the repair relates to the replacement
of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the
capitalisation threshold, the cost is capitalised and
amortised.

(P) TRADE AND
OTHER PAYABLES
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group up to the reporting date
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are
usually paid within 28 days of recognition.

(Q) GOODS AND
SERVICES TAX (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of
the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred
is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In
this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition
of the asset or as part of the expense. Receivables
and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of
GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation
Office is included with other receivables or payables
in the balance sheet. Cash flows are presented on a
gross basis, inclusive of GST. The GST components of
cash flows arising from investing or financing activities
which are recoverable from, or payable to the Australian
Taxation Office are presented as operating cash flows.

(R) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
(I) WAGES, SALARIES, SUPERANNUATION,
ANNUAL LEAVE AND SICK LEAVE
Provision is made for the Group’s liability for employee
benefits arising from services rendered by employees
to reporting date. Employee benefits that are expected
to be settled within one year have been measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled,
plus related on costs. Employee benefits payable later
than one year have been measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for
those benefits.

								

All employees belong to a defined contribution
superannuation scheme. Contributions to these defined
contribution superannuation schemes are recognised
as an expense in the period that they are payable. The
amount charged represents the contributions made by
the Group to the superannuation plan in respect to the
current services of Group directors and employees. The
contributions are based on the choice of plans made by
each employee and the relevant rules of each plan.
Employees are entitled to 10 days personal leave per
annum on a cumulative basis for either personal illness
or primary care of immediate family. No liability is brought
to account as the expected future payments are unlikely
to exceed the personal leave entitlements.
(II) LONG SERVICE LEAVE
Current liability - unconditional long service leave
(representing 10 or more years of continuous service)
is disclosed as a current liability even where the Group
does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months
because it does not have an unconditional right to defer
the settlement should an employee take leave within
12 months. The components of this current liability are
measured at:
• Present value – component that the Group does
not expect to settle within 12 months; and
• Nominal value – component that the Group
expects to settle within 12 months.
Non-current liability – conditional long service leave
(representing less than 10 years of continuous
service) is disclosed as a non-current liability. There
is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of
the entitlement until the employee has completed the
requisite years of service. Conditional long service
leave is required to be measured at present value. In
calculating present value, pro rata years of service
utilising current salary and wage rates are calculated,
and indexed using the Australian Bureau of Statistics
Wage Price Index.
Expected future payments are discounted using market
yields at the reporting date on high quality corporate
bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match,
as closely as possible, the estimated future cash
outflows.
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(S) PROVISIONS,
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND
CONTINGENT ASSETS
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure
required to settle the present obligation, based on the
most reliable evidence available at the reporting date,
including the risks and uncertainties associated with the
present obligation. Where there are a number of similar
obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to
their present values, where the time value of money is
material.
Any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually
certain to collect from a third party with respect to the
obligation is recognised as a separate asset. However,
this asset may not exceed the amount of the related
provision.
No liability is recognised if an outflow of economic
resources as a result of present obligation is not
probable. Such situations are disclosed as contingent
liabilities, unless the outflow of resources is remote in
which case no liability is recognised.

(T) RESERVES
The Constitution allows that the directors may set aside
financial reserve accounts to be applied at the discretion
of the directors for any purpose to which the reserves
may be applied, subject to satisfying the requirements
of the Operating Licence issued by the New South
Wales State Government.
(I) WATER RESERVE
The purpose of the Water Reserve is to set aside
funds for future investment in water related products
and services. The source of funds is from the sale
of a proportion of the Murray Irrigation Limited
Supplementary Water Access Licence.

(U) WEBSITE AND
INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY COSTS
Costs in relation to website development and
maintenance are recognised as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred, unless they relate
to the acquisition of an asset, in which case they are
capitalised and amortised over the period of expected
benefits. The Company considers that its website does
not give rise to sufficient identifying value or costs to be
regarded as an Intangible Asset under AASB 138.
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Information Technology costs including hardware and
software generally relate to acquisition of assets of
different useful lives, and are capitalised and amortised.
Costs in relation to feasibility studies or business
process reviews leading to specifications forming part of
subsequent technology implementation are considered
as expenses. Costs in relation to building or enhancing
Information Technology, to the extent that they represent
probable future economic benefits controlled by the
Group that can be reliably measured, are capitalised
as an asset and amortised over the period of expected
benefits.

(V) ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The Consolidated Entity is of a kind referred to in
Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities
& Investments Commission, relating to the “rounding
off” of amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the
financial report have been rounded off in accordance
with that Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars

(W) COMPARATIVES
Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies
applied are consistent with those of prior years. Where
necessary, comparatives have been reclassified for
consistency with current year disclosures.

(X) DIVIDEND POLICY
Under the Company’s Constitution, the Company is
prevented from paying dividends.

(Y) PRINCIPLES OF
CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary of Murray Irrigation
Limited (“parent entity”) as at 30 June 2019 and the
results of the subsidiary for the year then ended. Murray
Irrigation Limited and its subsidiary are referred to in this
financial report as the “Consolidated Entity” or “Group”.
The parent entity controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the subsidiary. The subsidiary is
listed in Note 24. The subsidiary has a 30 June financial
year end. All intercompany balances and transactions
between entities in the Consolidated Entity have been
eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between Group entities.

Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales
are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is
also tested for impairment from a Group perspective.
Accounting policies of the subsidiary have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
those policies adopted by the Consolidated Entity.

(Z) SEGMENT REPORTING
A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing services that are subject to risk
and returns that are different to those of other business
segments. Refer note 25.

(AA) CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with Australian Accounting Standards requires the use
of certain critical accounting estimates. The Company
applies its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The following are the
key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities during the next financial year.

held, as this is considered to be the amount recoverable
by the Group. Where the carrying amount exceeds the
recoverable amount, the difference is recognised as
an expense in profit or loss. Where impairment losses
are subsequently reversed they are recognised as a
reversal of impairment loss in the profit and loss.
ESTIMATES OF REMAINING USEFUL
LIVES OF PPE
Estimates of remaining useful lives are made on a periodic
basis for all assets. These reassessments require the
Group to make significant estimates and assumptions
in respect of its intentions for certain assets, based on
the broader strategic plan and specific funded projects
that are in place at reporting date. Should these plans
not eventuate or be completed to a different timeframe
than initially anticipated, useful lives of some assets, and
therefore carrying value, may be significantly different
than initially estimated.
As a result of PIIOP 2 and PIIOP 3 funding, a significant
number of assets will either be replaced or removed.
For PIIOP 2 it is assumed the majority of dethridge
wheels will be replaced and a small proportion of
regulators will not be required after the program is
complete. Therefore, a provision was created, at the
commencement of the projects, to provide for the
expected impairment of these assets.

ASSESSMENT OF IMPAIRMENT
In assessing impairment, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of each asset or cash generating unit
based on the current replacement cost of the assets in
the relevant cash generating unit. Estimation uncertainty
relates to assumptions about the replacement cost of
the asset and its depreciated balance based on the
useful life of the asset.
RECOVERABLE AMOUNT OF RECEIVABLES
The Group has made an estimate of the recoverable
amount of all receivables. This estimate requires the
use of assumptions and a considerable degree of
uncertainty exists. The Group has various receivables
from customers, largely relating to water accounts,
MILCast debtors and those relating to the Water Bank
operations. The Group has specifically identified all
debtor balances that are considered to be doubtful
based on the historical record of repayments, status of
the account and other factors at year end. The Group
has made the assumption that the full amount of those
particular loans is not recoverable, limited to the extent
described below. The Group holds security over these
debtors in the form of the water entitlements held by
irrigator customers. The value of these impaired debtors
is therefore only reduced by the fair value of the security
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2. REVENUE
2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

17,183

23,015

Income from Sustainability Products

3,421

-

Income from water sales - government recoveries

8,802

11,035

301

46

29,707

34,096

MILCast external sales

4,621

4,827

Interest received

2,422

2,447

Gain/(Loss) on sale of investments

(16)

(458)

Infrastructure – contributed assets

289

188

1,998

1,717

-

-

Revenue from irrigation undertaking
Income from water sales

Termination fees
Revenue from irrigation undertaking

Other revenue

Other income
Government funding – sale of conveyance water PIIOP Round 2
Government funding – water infrastructure assets PIIOP Round 2
Government funding – sale of conveyance water PIIOP Round 3
Government funding – water infrastructure assets PIIOP Round 3
Government funding – On-Farm Irrigation Efficiency Program

854

5,779

-

18,641

4,787

12,946

39

362

Other revenue

14,994

46,449

Total revenue

44,701

80,545
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3. EXPENSES
2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

55

87

400

420

1,220

471

Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

(a) Depreciation and amortisation:

Depreciation:
Buildings
Plant and equipment
Office equipment
Motor vehicles
Water infrastructure
Total depreciation

Amortisation of leased assets
Total depreciation and amortisation

316

688

8,607

7,541

10,598

9,207

632

808

11,230

10,015

4,212

4,347

(b) Impairment of water infrastructure assets

The commencement of the Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) has created an
expectation that a portion of the Company’s water infrastructure assets will be replaced, decommissioned or
handed over to customers in future years.
- assets identified to be replaced, scrapped or handed over in future periods - PIIOP Round 2
- assets identified to be replaced, scrapped or handed over in future periods - PIIOP Round 3

2,355

2,565

- assets estimated to be replaced, scrapped or handed over in future periods - PIIOP Round 2

1,028

1,117

66,579

66,579

74,174

74,608

- optimisation study

-

1,229

- non-capital items expensed

-

3,152

Board Restructure

-

711

- Impairment of water infrastructure assets

In 2018/2019, there has been minimal change in the PIIOP Round 2 and Round 3 Program Impairment
Provision. There has been a decrease of approximately $435k overall which relates to assets disposed during
the year.

(c) Other expenses:

Other expenses in 2017/18 includes abnormal costs such as PIIOP feasibility study, write-off of prior year
expense from Work in Progress, Board restructure costs and Company restructure costs.
PIIOP 3 expenses

Company restructure
Other expenses - other

-

785

3,628

3,454

3,628

9,332

943

4,919

In the prior year PIIOP 3 expenses included the survey, investigation and hydraulic modelling of the main Canal,
as well as the Network Optimisation study (a PIIOP 3 Commonwealth funded activity) which have not been
capitalised as these costs are not directly attributable to asset upgrades that qualify for capitalisation.

(d) Employee benefit expenses capitalised

Salaries and wages capitalised
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4. INCOME TAXES

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

3,764

-

Deferred tax (i) and (ii)

12,267

4,758

Under/(over) provision in prior year

(3,764)

211

Aggregate income tax expense:

12,267

4,547

(494)

2,621

12,761

2,137

12,267

4,758

12,267

4,486

-

61

12,267

4,547

Net profit before income tax

(470)

22,633

Income tax expense calculated @ 30% (2018:30%)

(141)

6,790

204

392

(256)

(1,734)

(8,027)

-

Current tax

(i) Deferred tax comprises:
(Increase)/Decrease in deferred tax assets
Increase/(Decrease) in deferred tax liabilities

(ii) (Increase)/decrease in deferred tax represented by:
Income tax expense
Other comprehensive income

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax (benefit)/expense:
The aggregate amount of income tax attributable to the financial year differs from the amount calculated on the
operating profit:
The differences are reconciled as follows:

Non-deductible expenditure
Non-assessable income (government funding)
Carried forward tax loss not recognised
Other non-assessable amounts
(Over)/under provision in prior year

(283)

(690)

(3,764)

(211)

(12,267)

4,547

For tax purposes, the Company elected to treat PIIOP Round 2 as non-assessable, non-exempt (NANE) income. By electing to have PIIOP Round 2 revenue
classified as NANE revenue, no income from this program is assessable and no associated expenses including depreciation on PIIOP 2 assets, is deductible for tax.
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5. CURRENT ASSETS- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

21,615

37,796

166

1,234

Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) Round 2

1,770

3,370

Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) Round 3

10,985

30,074

98

98

8,596

3,020

21,615

37,796

Cash at bank and on hand:

Restrictions are imposed on access to certain of the above funds as follows:
On-Farm Irrigation Efficiency Program (OFIEP)

Land and Water Management Plans and AMRR
Unrestricted funds

6. CURRENT ASSETS- TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

Water debtors

8,408

9,332

Less allowance for expected credit losses - Murray Irrigation

(132)

(201)

8,276

9,131

MILCast debtors

725

1,348

Less allowance for expected credit losses - MILCast

(25)

(25)

........................ . . .. 700

1,323

581

207

Accrued income
Other receivables and prepayments

4,897

2,634

........... .14,454

13,295

Balance as at 1 July

226

468

Amounts written back

(69)

(242)

Balance as at 30 June

157

226

a) Water debtors are invoiced four times per year: 30 September, 31 December, 31 March and 30 June, with
payment due on 30 days’ terms. Interest is calculated at the rate stipulated in the New South Wales Water
Management Act 2000 and accumulates on overdue balances.
b) MILCast debtors are invoiced on delivery of goods with payment due on 30-day terms.

Reconciliation of allowance for expected credit losses

								

www.murrayirrigation.com.au | 59

7. CURRENT ASSETS- INVENTORIES

MILCast inventories
Consumables
Water infrastructure assets not yet installed
Less provision for obsolescence - general
Less provision for obsolescence – PIIOP Round 2

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

849

1,092

2,171

1,897

-

2,485

(75)

(75)

-

(1,300)

2,945

4,099

The PIIOP Round 2 program is now closed and all inventories have been transferred to Murray Irrigation with an appropriate provision to write down the carrying
value of these inventory items to their realisable value.

8. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – FINANCIAL ASSETS

Managed Funds

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

83,228

85,932

83,228

85,932

36,166

38,685

8,812

8,481

38,250

38,766

83,228

85,932

Restrictions are imposed on access to parts of the above funds as follows:
Asset maintenance and renewals
Land and Water Management Plans
Unrestricted financial assets

The movement in the Asset maintenance and renewals balance for 2019 is as follows:
Opening Balance - 1 July 2018

38,685

Less: Capital Works (Withdrawals)						

(4,032)

Plus: Distributions and revaluations
Closing Balance - 30 June 2019
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1,513
36,166

9. NON-CURRENT ASSETS, PROPERTY PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT
2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

2,005

2,010

414,831

391,394

(104,217)

(95,753)

(74,174)

(74,608)

236,440

221,033

Construction in progress

16,767

20,161

Leased assets - at cost

52,806

52,102

(16,897)

(16,284)

35,909

35,818

Freehold land - at cost
Water infrastructure
Less accumulated depreciation
Less provision for impairment

Less accumulated amortisation

Buildings and cottages - at cost

3,499

3,544

Less accumulated depreciation

(1,132)

(1,116)

2,367

2,428

Plant and equipment - at cost

11,374

10,851

Less accumulated depreciation

(7,030)

(7,026)

4,344

3,825

6,714

4,533

(3,721)

(3,855)

2,993

678

Office equipment - at cost
Less accumulated depreciation

Motor vehicles - at cost
Less accumulated depreciation

1,917

2,565

(1,894)

(2,139)

23

426

300,848

286,379

CARRYING
AMOUNT AT
JULY 1 2018

ADDITIONS

DISPOSALS

DEPRECIATION

TRANSFERS

IMPAIRMENT

(‘000)

(‘000)

(‘000)

(‘000)

(‘000)

(‘000)

2,010

-

(5)

-

-

-

2,005

221,032

28

(168)

(8,607)

24,155

-

236,440

Construction in progress

20,161

25,496

-

-

(28,890)

-

16,767

Leased assets

35,818

86

(28)

(632)

665

-

35,909

Buildings

2,428

19

(25)

(55)

-

-

2,367

Plant and equipment

3,826

232

(165)

(400)

851

-

4,344

Office equipment

678

27

(9)

(1,220)

3,517

-

2,993

Motor vehicles

426

309

(98)

(316)

(298)

-

23

286,379

26,197

(498)

(11,230)

-

-

300,848

Land
Water Infrastructure

								

CARRYING
AMOUNT AT
JUNE 30 2019

(‘000)
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10. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

2,541

2,479

756

740

47

68

Blackhole expenditure

2,063

1,547

Carried forward tax losses

1,478

1,478

63

142

6,948

6,454

-

-

6,948

6,454

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:
Land and Water Management Plans
Employee benefits
Doubtful debts

Other temporary differences

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income
Available for sale assets

Tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation.
Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of tax losses to the extent that future taxable profits are reasonably expected in which the Group can utilise
such benefits.
The total value of carried forward tax losses as at 30 June 2019 is $39,551,166.

11. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Conveyance Water Access Licence at cost (a)

81,101

81,101

Supplementary Water Access Licence at cost (b)

11,311

11,311

92,412

92,412

CONVEYANCE
WATER ACCESS
2019

CONVEYANCE
WATER ACCESS
2018

279,786

287,660

-

(7,874)

279,786

279,786

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Balance at 1 July
Unit shares sold

At reporting date, the Company held a 279,786 (2018: 279,786) unit share Conveyance Water Access Licence and a 121,704 (2018: 121,704) unit share
Supplementary Water Access Licence.
Water rights have an indefinite useful life as a result of their legal form and are thus not amortised. The Company has made this assessment based on a historical
analysis , which suggests that the licences will continue to be renewed on substantially the same terms and conditions.
The Water Access Licences are carried at their original deemed cost at the date of privatisation. The Company is required to assess the carrying value of these
assets on an annual basis to determine whether the value is impaired. The Company determined that these assets are not impaired.
a) The most recent independent valuation obtained for the Conveyance Water Access licences was at 30 June 2019 and resulted in a valuation of $4,765 per
unit share.
b) The most recent independent valuation obtained for the Supplementary Water Access Licence was at 30 June 2019 and resulted in a valuation of $500 per
unit share.
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12. CURRENT LIABILITIES - TRADE AND
OTHER PAYABLES

Trade creditors
Other creditors

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

11,107

9,669

1,738

5,092

12,845

14,761

Trade creditors are normally settled on 28-day terms. The Company has a $500,000 lease facility, which is currently not being utilised.

13. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS
Employee entitlements - Current

2,217

2,130

8,472

8,264

14. CURRENT LIABILITIES OTHER
Land and Water Management Plans
On-Farm Irrigation Efficiency Program

76

565

Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) Round 2

2,659

1,467

Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) Round 3

6,233

10,588

OEH Grant Funding

1,324

-

18,764

20,884

Consumable stores

630

309

Accrued income

174

62

Accrued interest

-

-

11

19

15. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The balances comprise temporary differences attributable to:
Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Other - Prepayments
Fair value investments
Capital allowances and depreciation

360

-

45,425

33,341

46,600

33,731

Accounts recognised in other comprehensive income
Available for sale assets

								

-

108

46,600

33,839
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16. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS

Employee entitlements

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

427

419

17. EQUITY – CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares

NO. SHARES

NO. SHARES

(‘000)

(‘000)

2019

2018

2019

2018

1,392,628

1,392,628

284,723

284,723

Shares
Reconciliation of movement in Share Capital
Balance at 1 July
Shares cancelled
Balance at 30 June

2019

2018

1,392,628

1,394,655

-

(2,027)

1,392,628

1,392,628

The share capital of the Company consists only of fully paid ordinary shares; the shares do not have a par value. All shares represent one vote at a shareholders’
meeting. Being a not-for-profit Company, the shares have no rights to dividends or the distribution of capital on winding up of the Company.
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18. EQUITY –RESERVES AND RETAINED PROFITS
SHARE CAPITAL

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

20,000

20,000

(a) Reserves:
Water reserve
Available for sale assets revaluation reserve

-

190

20,000

20,190

Water reserve
Balance – 1 July

20,000

20,000

Balance – 30 June

20,000

20,000

Available for sale assets revaluation reserve
Balance – 1 July
Adjustment on adoption of AASB 9
Adjusted balance – 1 July

190

49

(190)

-

-

49

Other comprehensive income

-

141

Balance – 30 June

-

190

Retained profits - Balance carried forward

149,421

131,274

Net profit/(loss)

(12,737)

18,147

190

-

136,874

149,421

(b) Retained profits

Adjustment to retained earnings relating to adoption of AASB 9
Balance - 30 June

19. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
(A) KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
(I) DIRECTORS
The following persons were directors of Murray Irrigation Ltd for the whole of the year ended 30 June 2019 unless
otherwise stated:
PD Snowden, W Van Beek, C Filson, NH Baxter, SF Fawns, RT Gleeson, DF Marples and P Largier.
(II) OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT
The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling activities of the Group,
directly or indirectly during the financial year:
M Renehan (resigned 30 June 2019), S Barlow, S Campbell, W Jose (resigned 2 August 2019),
P Smith (resigned 3 May 2019) L Knight, M Anderson (commenced 14 January 2019 and resigned 16 May 2019)
and L Christesen (commenced 14 January 2019).
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(B) DIRECTORS COMPENSATION
SHORT-TERM
GROSS
SALARY

CASH
BONUS

$

$

SUPERANNUATION

EMPLOYEE
BENEFITS

ADDITIONAL
PAYMENTS

TOTAL
2019

TOTAL
2018

$

$

ANNUAL LEAVE
& LONG SERVICE
LEAVE

$

$

DIRECTORS
PD Snowden

62,557

-

-

5,943

-

68,500

40,434

W Van Beek

29,680

-

-

2,820

-

32,500

19,184

C Filson

59,361

-

-

5,639

-

65,000

4,235

NH Baxter

29,680

-

-

2,820

-

32,500

2,118

SF Fawns

29,680

-

-

2,820

-

32,500

2,118

RT Gleeson

29,680

-

-

2,820

-

32,500

2,118

DF Marples

57,113

-

-

5,426

-

62,539

4,088

P Largier

56,691

-

-

5,386

-

62,077

3,909

BJ Barlow

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,833

JM Bradford

-

-

-

-

-

-

18,130

CR Brooks

-

-

-

-

-

-

15,600

TW McKindlay

-

-

-

-

-

-

20,238

DM Robertson

-

-

-

-

-

-

16,232

JA Sides

-

-

-

-

-

-

15,600

BP Simpson

-

-

-

-

-

-

30,146

S Stone

-

-

-

-

-

-

125

KS Baxter

-

-

-

-

-

-

17,067

PT Mogg

-

-

-

-

-

-

19,691

WL Hetherington

-

-

-

-

-

-

17,067

SP McNaul

-

-

-

-

-

ML Hughes
Directors total

17,067

-

-

-

-

-

-

17,067

354,442

-

-

33,674

-

388,116

286,067

The member approved Director compensation cap is $400,000 per annum (2018: $400,000). The current remuneration is below that cap.

(C) OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

SUPERANNUATION

SHORT-TERM

Other key management

GROSS
SALARY

CASH BONUS

$

$

1,747,632

147,500

ADDITIONAL
PAYMENTS

72,951

TOTAL 2019

TOTAL 2018

ANNUAL LEAVE
& LONG SERVICE
LEAVE

$

$

$

$

184,882

50,924

2,203,889

2,797,847

*Additional Payments include entitlements on termination and redundancy - not subject to superannuation.
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EMPLOYEE
BENEFITS

(D) DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL EQUITY
NO. SHARES 2019

NO. SHARES 2019

18,808

16,734

Ordinary Shares held

(E) OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH DIRECTORS AND KEY
MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
During the period the Company delivered water for cropping and other activities to a number of directors and other key
management personnel or their related entities on commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those which
is reasonable to expect would have been adopted if dealing with them at arm’s length in the same circumstances.
The value of these transactions totalled $103,756 (2018: $742,890).
Shareholder directors receive annual allocation and water efficiency allocations based on their water and delivery
entitlements, on the same terms as all other shareholders and customers.
A former Company Director is a director of and has a financial interest in Peppin Planners, a financial planning firm that
provides the Company with services relating to the management of employee superannuation.
Mr S Fawns provided consulting services to the Company on normal commercial terms. The total value of those services
was $4,600.

Aggregate amounts payable or receivable from directors and other key management personnel or their related entities as
at balance date:

Water Accounts Receivable

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

30

157

(F) LOANS TO KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
There are no loans to directors or other key management personnel.
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20. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

2019

2018

Audit of financial report

88,000

85,000

Preparation of statutory financial report

20,000

20,000

Fees paid or payable to the auditor in respect of:

Other assurance services*
Total audit and other assurance services

56,150

28,844

164,150

133,844

425

-

14,486

130,169

179,061

264,013

Taxation services (note- this relates to tax advice services, not preparation of returns)
Other non-assurance services**
Total Remuneration

*During the current year, the Company’s auditor was engaged to assist in the acquittal of government-funded programs, to provide accounting advice in relation to
AASB 9 Financial Instruments and to attend MILCast stocktake.
**During the current year, the Company’s auditor was engaged to assist on non-audit services relating to forensics review and fringe benefit tax advice.

21. COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

6,748

8,614

Operating commitments

2,266

1,274

Total commitments

9,014

9,888

22. LAND AND WATER MANAGEMENT PLANS
A) INCLUDES FARM REBATES, MONITORING, EDUCATION
AND ADMINISTRATION.
I) DETAILS OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ON THE LAND AND WATER MANAGEMENT PLANS
ARE AS FOLLOWS:
BERRIQUIN
CADELL
							

DENIMEIN

WAKOOL

TOTAL

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

158

140

68

62

2

1

67

63

295

267

158

140

68

62

2

1

67

63

295

267

-

-

(87)

-

-

-

-

-

(87)

-

158

140

(19)

62

2

1

67

63

208

267

Income
Irrigator contributions and
interest on funds

Expenditure
Expenses incurred (a)
Net funds accumulated
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II) DETAILS OF LAND AND WATER MANAGEMENT PLANS FUNDS HELD AS IMPLEMENTING AUTHORITY
ARE AS FOLLOWS:			

BERRIQUIN

Opening balance – July 1
Add net funds accumulated/
(expended)
Closing balance – 30 June
(Note 14)

CADELL

DENIMEIN

TOTAL

WAKOOL

2019

2018

2019

2018

2018

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

4,970

4,830

2,170

2,108

53

51

1,071

1,008

8,264

7,997

158

140

(19)

62

2

1

67

63

208

267

5,128

4,970

2,151

2,170

55

52

1,138

1,071

8,472

8,264

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OPERATING LEASE INCOME

Less than 1 year
More than 1 year to less than 5 years
More than 5 years

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

14

14

54

54

136

150

204

218

The Company owns land which is leased by Telstra until 2033 and NBN until 2034

(A) NET FAIR VALUES
The net fair value of financial assets and liabilities at the reporting date approximates the respective carrying values in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
For further information regarding fair values of financial assets, refer to note 8.

(B) CREDIT RISK EXPOSURE
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks as well as other credit exposures
including outstanding receivables and long-term investments in interest bearing securities. The maximum exposure to
credit risk at balance date is the carrying amount of financial assets.
To manage its short-term credit risk, the Company invests surplus funds in term deposits to maximise its return while
reducing the potential effect of the short-term unpredictability of financial markets. These investments are made with
reputable Australian banks and are considered low risk.
The Company also has long-term investments in the form of a portfolio of managed funds. These managed funds are
invested in cash, fixed interest and equity securities. The current investment policy dictates the level of investment in each
fund as a percentage of the overall portfolio.
In respect of accounts receivable, the balances are managed and monitored in accordance with a credit management
policy. In respect of water debtors and loans receivable from landholders, the Company has security over the debt in
accordance with the Water Management Act 2000.
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24. SUBSIDIARY
The Company has the following subsidiary:

NAME OF SUBSIDIARY

COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION

Riverbank Holdings Pty Ltd

Australia

CLASS OF SHARE

EQUITY HOLDING
% 2019

Ordinary

100

EQUITY HOLDING
% 2018
100

PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION

2019

2018

(‘000)

(‘000)

39,014

55,190

Total assets

522,450

526,367

Current Liabilities

(33,826)

(37,775)

(a) Summary financial information
The individual financial statements for the parent entity are as follows:
Current assets

Total liabilities

(80,853)

(72,033)

Net assets

441,597

454,334

Contributed equity

284,723

284,723

20,000

20,190

Accumulated profits

Reserves

136,874

149,421

Total equity

441,597

454,334

(12,737)

18,147

-

141

(12,737)

18,288

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income/(loss)

(b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity
The parent entity has not entered into any financial guarantees.
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25. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The segments are as follows:
Murray Irrigation Limited (MIL) represents the activities encompassing the delivery of water to landholders from Mulwala
in the east to Moulamein in the west within Southern NSW.
MILCast is a business unit of Murray Irrigation Limited which designs, manufactures and supplies precast concrete
products for the agricultural sector and other commercial uses.
Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program Round 2 & 3 (PIIOP Round 2 & 3) consist of funding agreements with
the Commonwealth Government and include upgrading water management and measurement systems, targeted channel
refurbishment, system reconfiguration, system retirement and channel upgrade works.
All non-current assets are located in Australia. No single customer represents more than 10% of revenue.

Segment information for the reporting period is as follows:

On farm Delivery (GL)

MIL
2019

MILCAST
2019

PIIOP ROUND 2
2019

PIIOP ROUND 3
2019

TOTAL
2019

(‘000)

(‘000)

(‘000)

(‘000)

(‘000)

296

-

29,707

-

296

Revenue
Irrigation activities
MILCast external sales

-

-

29,707

-

4,621

-

-

4,621

29,707

4,621

-

-

34,328

(4,683)

-

-

-

(4,683)

-

(3,906)

-

-

(3,906)

Total cost of goods sold

(4,683)

(3,906)

-

-

(8,589)

Gross profit

25,024

715

-

-

25,739

(13,688)

(684)

(85)

-

(14,457)

Operations

(5,800)

(46)

(1,376)

(46)

(7,268)

Corporate and administrative

(2,880)

(234)

(61)

(453)

(3,628)

(22,368)

(964)

(1,522)

(499)

(25,353)

2,656

(249)

(1,522)

(499)

386

Total revenue
Cost of goods sold
Bulk water supply expenses
MILCast cost of sales

Expenditure
Wages

Total expenditure
EBITDA
Depreciation

(10,608)

(121)

-

(501)

(11,230)

(7,952)

(370)

(1,522)

(1,000)

(10,844)

2,320

-

(9)

-

2,311

(5,632)

(370)

(1,531)

(1,000)

(8,533)

AMRR

1,178

-

-

-

1,178

Other

1,237

7

-

-

1,244

Total interest received

2,415

7

-

-

2,422

Operating EBIT
Other income
EBIT
Interest received

Abnormal items

-

-

-

-

-

Provisions/adjustments

-

-

-

-

-

(3,217)

(363)

(1,531)

(1,000)

(6,111)

-

-

854

4,787

5,641

(3,217)

(363)

(677)

3,787

(470)

Net profit/(loss) before tax and PIIOP revenue
PIIOP revenue – Grant funding
Net profit/(loss) before tax, inc PIIOP revenue

No segment assets or liabilities are disclosed because there is no measure of segment liabilities regularly reported to the chief operating decision makers.
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26. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
At a Board meeting held on 25 September 2019, it was resolved to pursue the sale of the business unit known as MILCast
as a going concern. An estimate of the financial impact of this proposed sale is unable to be made at present.
There has been no other item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to
affect significantly the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company in
subsequent financial years.

27. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Directors are not aware of any contingencies that warrant disclosure for the year.
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D I R E C T O R S ’ D E C L A R AT I O N
IN THE OPINION OF THE DIRECTORS OF
MURRAY IRRIGATION LIMITED:
a) The consolidated financial statements and notes of the Company are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:
i. Giving a true and fair view of its financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its performance for the financial year ended
on that date; and
ii. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and
b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

P.D. SNOWDEN
CHAIRMAN
25 September 2019

R.T. GLEESON
DIRECTOR
25 September 2019
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Collins Square, Tower 5
727 Collins Street
Melbourne Victoria 3008
Correspondence to:
GPO Box 4736
Melbourne VIC 3001
T +61 3 8320 2222
F+ 61 3 8320 2200
E info.vic@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton .com.au

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
To the Directors of Murray Irrigation Limited

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead auditor for the audit of Murray
Irrigation Limited for the year ended 30 June 2019, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:
a

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

b

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd
Chartered Accountants

E W Passaris
Partner – Audit & Assurance
Melbourne, 25 September 2019

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to
Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Collins Square, Tower 5
727 Collins Street
Melbourne Victoria 3008
Correspondence to:
GPO Box 4736
Melbourne VIC 3001
T +61 3 8320 2222
F+ 61 3 8320 2200
E info.vic@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton .com.au

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of Murray Irrigation Limited
Report on the audit of the financial report
Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Murray Irrigation Limited (the Company) and its subsidiary (the Group), which
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies, and the Directors’ declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
a

giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its performance for the year
ended on that date; and

b

complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Corporations
Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are
relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

www.grantthornton.com.au

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to
Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report
thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Directors’ for the financial report
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Corporations Act 2001. The
Directors’ responsibility also includes such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd
Chartered Accountants

E W Passaris
Partner – Audit & Assurance
Melbourne, 25 September 2019
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